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Facts Establishing



1st Circuit affirms denial of relief from for​feiture judgment under Rule 60(b). (445) The 1st Circuit re​jected claimant's argument that he was improperly de​nied post-judgment relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b)(3) and (6) based upon the government's "fraud on the court" and its misstatements, and under Rule 60(b)(1) based upon his counsel's excusable neglect. Claimant did not establish a fraud upon the court. Claimant failed to show that the government's mis​statements or his coun​sel's failure to file a verified affidavit in opposi​tion to the government's motion for summary judgment was material to the gov​ernment's demonstration of probable cause or to claimant's de​ficient defense of in​nocent ownership. U.S. v. Parcel of Land and Resi​dence at 18 Oakwood Street, 958 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Parcel of Land and Resi​dence at 18 Oakwood Street, 958 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1992)."
1st Circuit upholds probable cause deter​mination based upon DEA agent's affidavit detailing drug ar​rests on property. (445) The district court deter​mined that there was probable cause to forfeit claimant's real property based upon a DEA's agent affidavit stating that over a four-year period, the prop​erty was the site of more than 29 drug-re​lated arrests. The 1st Circuit re​jected claimant's con​tention that the affidavit con​tained unreliable hearsay. The reliability of the affidavit was substanti​ated by its sup​porting documentation per​taining to extensive illegal activity at the property and by the ac​companying affidavits of two police officers, at​testing to the accuracy of the representa​tions made in the DEA affidavit. U.S. v. Par​cel of Land and Resi​dence at 18 Oakwood Street, 958 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Par​cel of Land and Resi​dence at 18 Oakwood Street, 958 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1992)."
1st Circuit upholds consideration of hearsay to deter​mine probable cause. (445) Claimant objected to the admis​sion of a toxicology re​port verifying that a sub​stance found in the van was marijuana, and a police offi​cer's affidavit con​taining an informant's statement that he had purchased mar​ijuana from claimant. Al​though the claimant conceded that hearsay may be used to show probable cause, he con​tended that hearsay could not be the sole basis for a probable cause finding. The 1st Cir​cuit upheld the probable cause determi​nation, rul​ing that the hearsay evidence was sufficiently reli​able. Moreover, the hearsay did not con​stitute the sole basis for the probable cause determination. An officer who searched the van testi​fied that he discovered three plas​tic bags and a small con​tainer containing a brown leafy sub​stance, two hand-rolled cigarettes, several loaded guns and a bag containing ammu​nition. U.S. v. One 1986 Chevrolet Van, 927 F.2d 39 (1st Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. One 1986 Chevrolet Van, 927 F.2d 39 (1st Cir. 1991)."
1st Circuit rules that claimant's legitimate sources of in​come were too small to defeat government's probable cause showing. (445) The government filed affidavits showing that from 1979 to 1988 the claimant and his wife had an average an​nual adjusted gross income of $27,000 but made pur​chases totaling in the millions of dollars. The government's affidavit also alleged that the claimant had been in​volved in cocaine and marijuana trafficking, and that a search of the house in 1988 uncov​ered 14 pounds of mari​juana, guns and a triple beam scale. The claimant argued that the record showed that he had "substantial sources of legal income and that the gov​ernment could not forfeit his properties unless it estab​lished a "concrete nexus" between the properties and particular drug transactions. The 11th Circuit found the government's showing sufficient. "Given the govern​ment's comprehensive and particularized showing of probable cause . . . the burden shifted to [claimant] to produce facts establishing such a claim." The claimant failed to point to any evidence in the record in​dicating a legitimate source for the purchase of any of his proper​ties. U.S. v. Parcels of Land, 903 F.2d 36 (1st Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Parcels of Land, 903 F.2d 36 (1st Cir. 1990)."
1st Circuit finds probable cause to believe that house was used to facilitate drug crimes. (445) In response to several anonymous telephone calls and complaints from neighbors, police conducted a surveillance of claimant's property and observed that it was frequented by known drug offenders. A confidential informant ad​vised police that claimant used the property to store, use and dis​tribute co​caine. A search of the property produced co​caine and vari​ous drug related paraphernalia. The 1st Circuit held that the telephone calls, the surveillance of the property, the state​ments of the confi​dential infor​mant and the items seized from the property plainly con​stituted sufficient evi​dence to establish probable cause that the property had been used in an illegal manner. Since defendant produced no evidence to negate the probable cause established by the government or dispute that the premises were used to facilitate possession of cocaine with intent to distribute, summary judgment in fa​vor of the government was appropriate. U.S. v. Parcels of Real Property With the Building, Ap​purtenances, and Im​provements Known as 1933 Commonwealth Avenue, Newton, Mas​sachusetts, 913 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1990).

xe "U.S. v. Parcels of Real Property With the Building, Ap​purtenances, and Im​provements Known as 1933 Commonwealth Avenue, Newton, Mas​sachusetts, 913 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1990)."
2nd Circuit finds nexus between property and trafficking in stolen auto parts. (445) Claimants owned an automotive salvage and repair shop and the land upon which the business was located. The government sought the forfeiture of the business and the land based on claimants' trafficking in VIN-altered auto parts and money laundering activities. The Second Circuit held that the government established probable cause to believe that there was a nexus between the property and the illegal conduct. An informant testified that he sold many stolen vehicles and components with removed VINs to the business. Numerous cars and parts found in the company's yard had VINs removed or altered, and the VINs found intact belonged to vehicles that had been reported stolen. Finally, a former bookkeeper testified to the company's irregular transactions with certain "suppliers" of parts. Claimants did not refute this evidence. U.S. v. All Assets of G.P.S. Automotive Corp., 66 F.3d 483 (2d Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. All Assets of G.P.S. Automotive Corp., 66 F.3d 483 (2d Cir. 1995)."
2nd Circuit finds that claimants knew of drug traf​ficking on their property. (445) The 2nd Cir​cuit upheld the forfeiture of real property, finding that there was probable cause and that claimants were not innocent own​ers. Due to the extraordinary volume of drug trans​actions occurring on, nearby, or directly related to the premises (66 drug-re​lated ar​rests over a three-year period), the trial court cor​rectly found probable cause that the property had been used to facilitate drug trafficking. Further, the court did not err in rejecting claimants' improbable testi​mony that they had no knowledge of drug-traf​ficking on their prop​erty and had not con​sented to it, particularly given their own drug-related arrests on the site and their presence during arrests for various other drug trans​actions. A claimant who has knowl​edge that his property is being used for drug-related purposes must take reasonable steps to pre​vent this illicit use in order to show a lack of consent. Claimants failed to show that they took those steps. That similar drug activity may have pervaded the neighborhood did not excuse them. U.S. v. All Right, Title, and In​terest in Real Property and Appurte​nances Thereto Known as 785 St. Nicholas Ave., 983 F.2d 396 (2d Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. All Right, Title, and In​terest in Real Property and Appurte​nances Thereto Known as 785 St. Nicholas Ave., 983 F.2d 396 (2d Cir. 1993)."
2nd Circuit says probable cause only re​quires a nexus between seized property and illegal drug activity. (445) Under 2nd Circuit forfeiture caselaw, to establish proba​ble cause, the government must have reason​able grounds to believe the property is sub​ject to forfeiture, and these grounds must rise above the level of "mere suspicion." Here, the 2nd Circuit noted that there was an apparent contradiction in formulations of how far above "mere suspicion" the probable cause burden lies. Although several cases have suggested that "a substantial connection" must be shown between the property and the illegal activity, the court found that "the weight of authority" in the 2nd Circuit re​quires the government only to demonstrate a "nexus" between the seized property and the illegal drug activity. To show that nexus when the res is a bank account, the govern​ment must establish that there is probable cause to believe the funds represent proceeds traceable to drug transactions; it is not re​quired to link the monies to any one particu​lar transaction. Here, the evidence was more than sufficient to link funds being electroni​cally transferred to Colombia to illegal drug trafficking. U.S. v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993). xe "U.S. v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993). "
2nd Circuit upholds warrantless seizure of electronic transfer funds. (445) The 2nd Circuit upheld the warrantless seizure of funds being electronically transferred. Under 21 U.S.C. §881(b)(4), when the Attor​ney General has probable cause to believe that property is subject to forfeiture under section 881, the government is authorized to seize the property without judicial process. Here, the Assistant U.S. Attorneys, as repre​sentatives of the Attorney General, clearly had such probable cause. This was not a case in which the government stumbled into a seizure without any prior information about the subject property. The government knew that the head of a Colombian drug cartel, who had already been indicted for various drug and money laundering violations, would probably be directing the transfer of illicit in​come through particular New York banks to the accounts of several of his businesses in Colombia. In addition, as required by statute, the government initiated forfeiture proceedings promptly and in accordance with applicable customs laws. U.S. v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993). xe "U.S. v. Daccarett, 6 F.3d 37 (2d Cir. 1993). "
2nd Circuit says affidavit established probable cause to seize funds in interbank account. (445) The government seized a bank's interbank account. The warrant was supported by the affidavit of a postal inspector which described in detail the postal service's investigation of the drug cartel's use of money orders to launder narcotics proceeds through the interbank account. The 2nd Circuit held that the affidavit established probable cause to seize the funds in the interbank accounts that were attributable to money orders. The affidavit was not the functional equivalent of a drug courier profile. It was the result of a 13-month investigation into the Colombian drug cartel's laundering scheme. The affidavit described a specific modus operandi, and was not a mere profile compiled from the general behavior of drug cartels. However, the court remanded for a determination of whether 18 U.S.C. §984 required the release of the funds derived from money orders. Marine Midland Bank v. U.S., 11 F.3d 1119 (2d Cir. 1993).xe "Marine Midland Bank v. U.S., 11 F.3d 1119 (2d Cir. 1993)."
2nd Circuit finds probable cause where claimant pur​chased property with large sums of cash in excess of le​gi​timate in​come. (445) Claimant argued that his guilty plea to drug charges was insufficient to establish proba​ble cause that certain properties were the proceeds of a narcotics exchange, because the activities for which he was convicted occurred after he had purchased most of the property. The 2nd Cir​cuit rejected this argument, noting that the govern​ment need only have probable cause to connect the property to drug ac​tivity. It need not link the property to a particular transac​tion. In this case, probable cause was estab​lished by several factors. First, claimant was arrested with heroin that was 90 per​cent pure, from which the district court could reasonably infer that claimant occupied a fairly high posi​tion on the drug distribution chart and that he had been involved in ille​gal activities for a sub​stantial period of time prior to his ac​tual ar​rest. Second, almost all of the properties were pur​chased with large sums of cash, in an amount that greatly ex​ceeded claimant's le​gitimate after-tax in​come. Third, many of claimant's cash payments for the property were made with five, ten and twenty dollar bills. Fi​nally, claimant made vari​ous false statements about his purchases, including listing a false social security num​ber. U.S. v. 228 Acres of Land and Dwelling Located on Whites Hill Road in Chester, Vt., 916 F.2d 808 (2d Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. 228 Acres of Land and Dwelling Located on Whites Hill Road in Chester, Vt., 916 F.2d 808 (2d Cir. 1990)."
3rd Circuit holds that although government established probable cause and particularity, order is vacated and remanded due to gaps relating to seizure of documents written in Chinese. (445) The Kims operated an elaborate food stamp trafficking scheme through their Chinese take-out restaurants, in which the restaurants would buy food stamps from low-income recipients for seventy cents on the dollar and then resell the food stamps for ninety cents on the dollar. The government alleged that three of their stores were operating solely for the purpose of trafficking food stamps, and funds from a bank account owned by the Kims were seized and forfeited under the money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C. Section 981(a)(1)(A). The Kims challenged the affidavit/warrant under Leon and that case’s good faith exception to the exclusionary rule. The district court upheld the warrant, and the Third Circuit concluded that the affidavit was not “so deficient in probable cause as to render reliance on it unreasonable.” However, because of gaps in the record relating to the seizure of documents written in Chinese, the Third Circuit vacated the forfeiture judgment and remanded for further proceedings on that issue only.  U.S. v. $92,422.57, 307 F.3d 137 (3rd Cir. 2002).

3rd Circuit holds government failed to establish probable cause to seize where after traffic stop of rental car, dog alerted, claimants had previous drug convictions, ION scan was positive, and large bundles of currency wrapped in rubber bands were found in gym bag in trunk.  (445) Claimants’ rental car was stopped in routine traffic stop. Officer questioned three occupants individually about travel plans, noting their shaking hands and failure to make eye contact. Claimants consented to car search. Officer noticed strong air freshener odor but did not find any weapons or contraband in interior. In the trunk, she found a duffel bag, backpack, and cell phones. Passenger claimed ownership of backpack and consented to its search. Inside officer found clothes and money rubber banded together in large bundles in plastic bag. In consent search of duffel bag, she found clothes and rubber banded currency. At station, rubber banded currency was found on passenger. Rental company confirmed that car had been driven beyond its rental region. All three occupants lived in high drug activity area, one had murder charges pending against him and three convictions for drug offenses, and one had conviction for conspiracy to traffic cocaine. Currency tested positive for cocaine. Claimants were not charged with any illegal activity other than traffic citation. ION Scan test of vehicle was positive for cocaine.  District Court entered order of forfeiture. The Third Circuit considered the totality of the circumstantial evidence, found it not to establish required 881(a)(6) nexus between currency and drug activity by claimants, and focused on fact there were no drugs or drug paraphernalia found in claimants’ rental vehicle. The court held that the government failed to establish that it had probable cause to commence forfeiture proceedings, reversed the District Court’s forfeiture decree, and remanded with directions that the lower court enter judgment in favor of the claimants. U.S. v. $10,700 and $21,460 in U.S. Currency, 258 F.3d 215 (3rd Cir. 2001).

4th Circuit finds innocent owner evidence inadequate to rebut probable cause showing. (445) The government sought civil forfeiture of a building alleged to be a “major center of drug-related and other criminal activities in the downtown” area of Jacksonville, North Carolina. The evidence that the building was used for criminal purposes included: (1) Hearsay testimony of three drug convicts who sold drugs in or around the building and saw sales conducted in front of the owner; (2) 202 criminal incident reports from the local police department regarding criminal activity on the premises, including 180 instances of drug dealing, 83 drug seizures, 65 undercover purchases, and 29 occasions on which the crimes involved the building owner or his family; and (3) four eyewitness observations by detectives of drug activity in the building. In rebuttal, claimant introduced: (a) a statement from the owner’s former lawyer asserting that the owner maintained his innocence, (b) a “bare assertion of innocent ownership [by the owner] in response to an interrogatory,” (c) affidavits from two of the three convicts relied upon by government recanting their prior statements, and (d) an unsworn statement from another person claiming the owner had a poor memory. The Fourth Circuit found claimant’s submissions, even if taken as true, to be insufficient to establish an innocent owner defense in the face of the government’s “overwhelming” evidence. U.S. v. Willingham, 139 F.3d 896 (4th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Willingham, 139 F.3d 896 (4th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit affirms that police had reasonable suspi​cion to support investigatory detention. (445) Defen​dant contested the district court's determination of probable cause to forfeit his car. Although defendant did not dispute the district court's finding that a substan​tial con​nection existed between the vehicle and the un​derlying criminal conduct, he con​tended that the finding of probable cause could not be sus​tained because the cocaine and drug parapher​nalia found in the car were obtained as a result of an illegal investigatory detention. The 4th Circuit found that the police officer who found the drugs had a reasonable articulable suspi​cion suffi​cient to support an investigatory de​tention. The officer ob​served a woman enter a convenience store and leave with only a cup of water. The officer's training and past work caused him to suspect that the woman obtained the cup of water in order to "cook up" illegal drugs. This suspicion was heightened when he observed the woman return to a vehicle backed into its parking space, and parked far away from other vehicles in the lot. As the officer approached the car, he saw defendant ner​vously bend over as if to secrete some​thing un​der the seat. When he ordered defendant to leave the car, he ob​served a white powder in between the seats in plain view. U.S. v. Turner, 933 F.2d 240 (4th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Turner, 933 F.2d 240 (4th Cir. 1991)."
4th Circuit finds probable cause established by circum​stan​tial evidence of drug transac​tions. (445) Claimant had a criminal record in​volving various drug related of​fenses. During a 9 month period, claimant made large cash ex​penditures and possessed large amounts of cash well in ex​cess of his verifiable legitimate income. Claim​ant made fre​quent one-way plane trips without luggage to Miami, a known drug source city, and returned by ren​tal car. Under​cover agents made drug buys from sev​eral of claimant's em​ployees on or near his business, and the employees made statements suggesting his in​volve​ment in drugs. Based on this circumstantial evi​dence, the 4th Circuit re​versed the district court's ruling that the gov​ernment had not estab​lished probable cause that a cash bond and certain proper​ties pur​chased by the claimant in cash were the pro​ceeds of illegal drug activ​ity. U.S. v. Thomas, 913 F.2d 1111 (4th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Thomas, 913 F.2d 1111 (4th Cir. 1990)."
4th Circuit finds probable cause to forfeit house despite only trace amounts of cocaine. (445) The gov​ernment ap​pealed the district court's finding that it had not es​tablished prob​able cause to forfeit the claimant's house. The 4th Cir​cuit found that probable cause was suffi​ciently established by testimony that the claimant dis​tributed cocaine in his house on numerous occasions, and that he used his house to store, prepare, package and consume cocaine. This was corrobo​rated by drug para​phernalia seized from the house, even though only trace amounts of cocaine were discovered. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate Located at 7715 Betsy Bruce Lane, 906 F.2d 110 (4th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate Located at 7715 Betsy Bruce Lane, 906 F.2d 110 (4th Cir. 1990)."
4th Circuit upholds finding that money was to be used to finance a drug transaction. (445) The 4th Circuit found that the government had met its burden to estab​lish probable cause that the money seized from claimant was to be used to fi​nance a drug transaction: an under​cover agent arranged a sale of six kilograms of co​caine, claimant produced this large sum of cash in small bills, which was represented to be the consideration for the cocaine, and claimant's companion gave the cash to the undercover agent, a total stranger, in a bowling ball bag. Claimant had little income and no bank ac​count, and gave no reason why he would be carrying such a large sum of cash in a bowling ball bag. De​fendant did not give any facts to rebut the showing of pro​bable cause. The 4th Circuit found the summary judg​ment order proper. U.S. v. $95,945.18 United States Cur​rency, 913 F.2d 1106 (4th Cir. 1990).

Fifth Circuit holds that government showed sufficient drug nexus with defendant’s property, but that jewelry was not forfeitable because government did not prove it was acquired during the period of the violation. (445) The defendant appealed the ordered forfeiture of his home, weapons, jewelry and cash, in connection with his conviction for three violations of the federal Controlled Substances Act, arguing that the Government failed to demonstrate a sufficient nexus between those assets and his drug offenses. Government agents had obtained a search warrant for the defendant's home after he sold heroin to an informant. Before executing the warrant, agents observed him and his two children leaving the home in his car. When the agents attempted to stop him, he fled, throwing drugs out of the car window. Agents recovered approximately an ounce of heroin, but estimated that the total was more, one bag of heroin having exploded upon hitting an agent's car. The Court noted that the government produced testimony from a financial analyst that she reviewed tax and banking records for the defendant and his wife and concluded that they had income that could not be attributed to legitimate sources. The defendant testified that he visited several casinos, and that approximately two weeks before his arrest, he won $24,000 at another casino and deposited $20,000 into the couple's joint account a few days later. The Court affirmed forfeiture of the couple’s house because of the presence of heroin on the property, even if not in the house itself, and the presence in the home of loaded weapons and large amounts of unexplained cash, finding that the defendant used the property as a place to store and protect drugs and drug proceeds. The record also established that during the period of drug activity at the couple’s home, their bank deposits significantly exceeded their known legitimate income, strongly suggesting that the defendant used the account to deposit the proceeds of drug sales, along with the storage of thousands of dollars in the couple's home, most of it hidden in the attic. While acknowledging that some of the money in the account could have come from legitimate sources, the court concluded that any legitimate income in the account served to facilitate illegal drug activity. The court also suggested that the defendant’s gambling was essentially a mechanism to launder his drug money rather than a separate source of untainted income. As for the jewelry, however, the government’s evidence demonstrating that the defendant did not have legitimate income was insufficient for forfeiture, because it did not prove that the jewelry was acquired during the period of the violation. U.S. v. Juluke, 426 F.3d 323 (5th Cir. 2005) (Sep 20, 2005).

5th Circuit finds probable cause to forfeit $9 million from former Mexican Deputy Attorney General. (445) The government seized and brought a civil forfeiture action against over $9 million dollars that had been deposited in cash into a Texas bank account opened in the name of Mario Ruiz Massieu, formerly the Deputy Attorney General of Mexico. Massieu argued that the government was obliged to rely only on facts known to it at the time the forfeiture complaint was filed. The Fifth Circuit declined to decide whether the government was limited to such evidence as a matter of law because the district court found, and the court of appeals agreed, that probable cause existed at the time of the complaint. The finding of probable cause was supported by evidence that: (1) the denominations of the bills and their packaging were consistent with drug proceeds and inconsistent with normal business transactions; (2) Mexican drug trafficking organizations customarily pay bribes to Mexican law enforcement officials; (3) hearsay evidence that traffickers had paid bribes to Massieu himself; (4) testimony that Massieu had knowledge of a cocaine shipment; and (5) the large sums involved and the lack of a credible alternative explanation of their source. U.S. v. $9,041,598.68, 163 F.3d 238 (5th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. $9,041,598.68, 163 F.3d 238 (5th Cir. 1998)." 

5th Circuit finds probable cause to forfeit vehicles with missing or altered VINs. (445) The government sought forfeiture of several vehicles under 18 U.S.C. §512, which provides for the forfeiture of any motor vehicle or vehicle part whose vehicle identification number (VIN) has been tampered with or removed. The 5th Circuit held that the government established probable cause for the seizure and forfeiture of several vehicles. Each of the seized vehicles bore altered VINs. In addition, each had alterations that were inherently suspicious. Two trucks had VINs that had been ground off and re-stamped, two trucks contained engines and transmissions with VINs indicating that the parts had been stolen, and one truck had a VIN plate on the dash that was counterfeit. Finally, there was testimony that these vehicles were part of the inventory of a "salvage and chop shop" operation purportedly run by claimant. U.S. v. 1988 Chevrolet Silverado, 16 F.3d 660 (5th Cir. 1994).

xe "U.S. v. 1988 Chevrolet Silverado, 16 F.3d 660 (5th Cir. 1994)."
5th Circuit rules that subsequent acquittal of some defendants did not undermine govern​ment's prob​able cause for forfeit​ure. (445) Six individuals were investigated in connection with structuring car pur​chases to evade currency reporting requirements. Three were eventually convicted, two acquit​ted, and one never indicted. The government initiated a forfei​ture action against the cars. The 5th Circuit upheld summary judgment in favor of the government. The government presented bank records, documentation from various car dealerships, and evidence of the other claimants' convictions for structuring the transactions to show probable cause for the forfei​ture. Given the quality and quantity of this evidence, the subsequent acquittal of two of the claimants did not undermine the probable cause finding. The mere pendency of the appeals of the three convicted claimants were insufficient to cast doubt on the exis​tence of probable cause. U.S. v. 1988 Oldsmobile Cutlass Supreme 2 Door, 983 F.2d 670 (5th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. 1988 Oldsmobile Cutlass Supreme 2 Door, 983 F.2d 670 (5th Cir. 1993)."
5th Circuit affirms that there was probable cause as to crime and for​feitability of property. (445) Defendant moved before trial for the re​turn of ap​proximately $75,000 in cash seized from him after he was arrested for attempting to purchase cocaine in a "reverse sting" operation. The district court referred the matter to a magistrate to conduct a hearing to determine probable cause as to both the commission of a narcotics offense and the forfeitabil​ity of the money. The 5th Circuit affirmed the magis​trate's determina​tion that there was probable cause. Defen​dant had thousands of dollars in cash stored and packaged in exactly the same way, $20,000 of which he used to pay for the co​caine in the instant offense. He had no le​gitimate employment and ad​mitted that he sold cocaine for years. The $42,000 seized from a warehouse was just over the amount defendant needed to complete the next phase of the drug deal he had discussed with the under​cover agent. U.S. v. Ivy, 973 F.2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Ivy, 973 F.2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1992)."
5th Circuit finds probable cause based on substantial con​nection between bank account and drug trafficking pro​ceeds. (445) The 5th Circuit found that the govern​ment had estab​lished probable cause to believe that there was a sub​stantial connection between cash con​tained in claimant's bank account and drug trans​actions. The account was opened a short time after a load of marijuana arrived, and cash deposits totaling $315,000 were received over a short period of time. Part of the funds in the account were used to purchase a luxury car for claimant's nephew, who was ar​rested and subse​quently convicted on drug trafficking charges. Claimant purchased assets totaling $75,000 with cash over an eight-month period, despite tax returns showing an ad​justed gross income of approximately $40,000. Finally, and most impor​tantly, claimant was identified as a "money man" by two individuals involved in drug traf​ficking. Al​though claimant testified that the money in the account was from his business, which he conducted in cash, claimant did not call any witnesses or introduce any evi​dence to corrobo​rate the work performed or the payments received for this work. U.S. v. One 1987 Mer​cedes 560 SEL, 919 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. One 1987 Mer​cedes 560 SEL, 919 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. 1990)."
5th Circuit holds defendant’s affidavit insuf​fi​cient to overcome government showing of prob​able cause that defendant sold drugs from home. (445) The 5th Circuit upheld the district court's determination that the govern​ment had shown probable cause that claimant distributed illegal drugs to a government in​formant. Tapes of the conversation between claimant and the government informant were diffi​cult to understand, but clear enough to support the govern​ment's contention that de​fendant sold the drugs to the in​formant. The government submitted affidavits from two FBI agents who monitored the conversations and swore that the in​formant left claimant's house with the drugs given to him by claimant. Lab tests confirmed that the sub​stances the in​formant gave the FBI agents were illegal nar​cotics. Defen​dant's affidavit denying the gov​ernment's alle​gation was in​sufficient to rebut the government's evi​dence. Claimant pro​vided no facts that would support his con​tention, and did not offer any interpretation of the tapes that would contradict the government's version of the facts. U.S. v. Lot 9, Block 2 of Donny​brook Place, Harris County, Texas, 919 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Lot 9, Block 2 of Donny​brook Place, Harris County, Texas, 919 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. 1990)."
5th Circuit holds government established probable cause that defendant sold drugs from home. (445) The 5th Circuit upheld the district court's determination that the govern​ment had shown probable cause that claimant distributed illegal drugs to a government in​formant. Tapes of the conversation between claimant and the government informant were diffi​cult to understand, but clear enough to support the govern​ment's contention that de​fendant sold the drugs to the in​formant. The government submitted affidavits from two FBI agents who monitored the conversations and swore that the in​formant left claimant's house with the drugs given to him by claimant. Lab tests confirmed that the sub​stances the in​formant gave the FBI agents were illegal nar​cotics. Defen​dant's affidavit denying the gov​ernment's alle​gation was in​sufficient to rebut the government's evi​dence. Claimant pro​vided no facts that would support his con​tention, and did not offer any interpretation of the tapes that would contradict the government's version of the facts. U.S. v. Lot 9, Block 2 of Donny​brook Place, Harris County, Texas, 919 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Lot 9, Block 2 of Donny​brook Place, Harris County, Texas, 919 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. 1990)."
5th Circuit rules circumstances supported finding of probable cause to for​feit currency. (445) The 5th Circuit held there was probable cause to forfeit over $300,000 seized from a camper truck because there existed prob​able cause to believe the money was substantially con​nected to drug trafficking. The facts showed that (1) the truck was pur​chased for cash at an auction by two unidentified men, (2) investi​gators could not determine the existence of the person in whose name the truck was purchased, (3) the money was packaged in bundles of small bills which was characteristic of large drug deals, (4) cocaine was found on the driver, and (5) the driver took significant steps to shield his superiors from detec​tion. Under these circum​stances the trial court's deter​mination of probable cause was not erro​neous. More​over, given the lack of a claimant with standing to chal​lenge the forfeiture, sum​mary judgment was proper. $321,470 U.S. Currency, 874 F.2d 298 (5th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. $321,470 U.S. Currency, 874 F.2d 298 (5th Cir. 1989)."
6th Circuit finds probable cause based on confession months after seizure of cash. (445) DEA agents arrested claimant in the Detroit Metropolitan Airport and seized $49,910 in cash as drug money based on classic drug-courier profile considerations. He was traveling alone with little luggage on a one-way ticket purchased in cash to “a known drug source site” (Orange County, California), and proffered improbable explana​tions for his possession of the money, on which a drug dog alerted. Several months after the seizure, claimant was arrested for marijuana trafficking and admitted that the money seized at the Detroit airport was to have been used to pay a drug debt. The Sixth Circuit upheld summary judgment for the government. The district court properly considered the entire record, including evidence developed after the initial seizure, in finding probable cause. Defendant’s statement alone constituted probable cause, and it was bolstered by the circumstances of the seizure. Claimant failed to offer any evidence to rebut the government’s probable cause showing. U.S. v. $49,910.00, 156 F.3d 1232 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $49,910.00, 156 F.3d 1232 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit rules that government estab​lished prob​able cause to forfeit cash car​ried by Miami-bound traveler. (445) The 6th Circuit reversed the district court's de​termination that the government failed to es​tablish probable cause to forfeit money seized from claimant at the airport. First, claimant had bought a one-way airline ticket to Miami, a well-known source city, acted nervous while checking his bag and ar​rived at the airport late. On the other hand, he did buy the ticket in advance with his own credit card, traveled un​der his own name, and checked luggage. Second, claimant was carrying a large amount of cash con​cealed on his person. On the other hand, the fact that the po​lice officer could see cash protruding from his pocket suggested that claimant did little to conceal the money. Third, a drug-sniffing dog al​legedly re​acted positively to the money. But the govern​ment's evidence on this point was weak. Fourth, claimant twice mis​stated to police officers the amount of money he was carrying, and mis​represented the source of the funds. Finally, a govern​ment agent testi​fied that he had rea​son to be​lieve that claimant had sold cocaine in the area. But because the agent refused to offer any basis for that belief, the court refused to attach any probative weight to that testimony. Nonethe​less, de​spite the weaknesses of the govern​ment's proof, the evidence did support a rea​sonable be​lief that the seized cur​rency was substantially connected to illegal drug trans​actions. U.S. v. $67,220.00 in United States Currency, 957 F.2d 280 (6th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. $67,220.00 in United States Currency, 957 F.2d 280 (6th Cir. 1992)."
6th Circuit reverses award of attorneys' fees and storage fees in forfeiture case. (445) The district court dismissed the government's for​feiture complaint against claimant's air​plane, finding that "there simply [was] not enough informa​tion set forth in the amended com​plaint to show that the government can demon​strate probable cause in a forfeiture trial." There​after, claimant filed a motion for attor​neys' fees under sec​tion 2412 of the Equal Ac​cess to Justice Act. The district court granted the motion, finding that the govern​ment's claim against the airplane had not been substantially justi​fied. The 6th Circuit reversed, finding that the govern​ment's position was "substantially justified." The complaint alleged that claimant owned the airplane, was a pilot, sup​plied co​caine to the residence of a known drug traf​ficker, and had been involved in past illegal drug transactions. A trained detection dog alerted to an exterior panel and an in​terior area of the plane. The appellate court also va​cated the dis​trict court's order awarding claimant storage expenses in​curred while the aircraft was in the government's possession, since the district court failed to articulate the legal authority for this. Judge Merritt dis​sented. U.S. v. Real Property Lo​cated at 2323 Charms Road, Milford Township, Oakland County, Michigan, 946 F.2d 437 (6th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Lo​cated at 2323 Charms Road, Milford Township, Oakland County, Michigan, 946 F.2d 437 (6th Cir. 1991)."
6th Circuit holds that intent to use property to commit offense is proper grounds for for​feiture even if offense is never com​pleted. (445) 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) permits forfei​ture of all real property intended to be used to commit a drug of​fense. A claimant who was later indicted on drug traf​ficking charges claimed that forfeiture of his property was improper because no transaction was con​summated when he met with two un​dercover agents on his property. The 6th Cir​cuit held that summary judg​ment in favor of the gov​ernment was proper. Once the gov​ernment es​tablish​ed probable cause to believe the prop​erty was for​feitable, the burden shifted to the claimant to estab​lish a material question of fact as to his intent. Since he failed to do so, the prop​erty was forfeitable under the lan​guage of the statute. U.S. v. Lots 12, 13, 14, and 15, etc., 869 F.2d 942 (6th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Lots 12, 13, 14, and 15, etc., 869 F.2d 942 (6th Cir. 1989)."
6th Circuit rules that only probable cause, not "sub​stan​tial connection," is necessary for for​feiture. (445) Claimant argued that the order for​feiting a vehicle she used for trans​portation to and from a drug sale was im​proper because the government failed to establish that there was a "substantial connection" between the auto​mobile and the cocaine sale. After re​viewing the legisla​tive history of the 1978 amend​ment to section 881(a)(4), the 6th Cir​cuit stated that while Congress may have in​tended the "substantial connection" test to ap​ply, the court was nevertheless bound by a prior circuit decision which held that only probable cause was necessary to support a forfeiture under this subsection. Because the claimant failed to submit a rebutting affidavit in support of her motion opposing summary judgment, the court's inquiry was limited to determining whether the govern​ment had pre​sented prob​able cause in its affidavit. The court found that it had, hold​ing that use of an automo​bile for transportation to and from a drug transaction is suffi​cient to support a forfei​ture, even if the higher "substantial con​nection" test were ap​propriate. U.S. v. One 1984 Cadillac, 888 F.2d 1133 (6th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. One 1984 Cadillac, 888 F.2d 1133 (6th Cir. 1989)."
6th Circuit finds probable cause in illegal gambling forfeiture. (445) Claimant was arrested and later pleaded guilty in state court to misdemeanor possession of gambling paraphernalia. The government filed an Affidavit of Interest in the property, and after settlement negotiations broke down, filed a complaint for forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1955(d) for printing and gambling items seized from claimant’s residence. The district court granted summary judgment, and on appeal claimant argued that the government did not establish probable cause for the forfeiture. He maintained that because the printing press was inoperable, the government could not carry the burden of proving that the betting slips were printed in the residence. The Sixth Circuit disagreed, reasoning that even assuming that the betting slips had been produced elsewhere, other evidence found at the residence gave rise to more than “mere suspicion” that claimant was using the house as a point of distribution for the betting slips. Thus, there was probable cause that the home was used in violation of the provisions of 18 U.S.C. §1955. Affirmed. United States v. Real Property 35555 Little Mack, 211 F.3d 1271, (6th Cir. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Real Property 35555 Little Mack, ___ F.3d ___, 2000 WL 571985 (6th Cir. May 5, 2000) No. 98-1069."
7th Circuit finds probable cause for forfeiture of proceeds of fraud. (445) The government filed a civil forfeiture complaint under 18 U.S.C. §981 against a bank account held in the name of Active Trade Company. Claimant Active Trade contested the forfeiture judgment entered by the district court on the ground that some of the statements in the amended verified complaint later proved to be false. The government’s case consisted of overwhelming evidence that the account was used as a conduit for the deposit of funds from victims of a number of advance fee and other fraud schemes. The false statement at issue was the declaration by one of the victims that he had been defrauded in a different manner than the one actually used to separate him from his money. Moreover, this victim testified that his original false story was prompted by threats from the perpetrators. The district court held that this particular falsity did not detract from its finding that there was probable cause to believe the account was a depository for fraudulently obtained funds. The Seventh Circuit sustained the judgment of the lower court. U.S. v. United States Currency Deposited in Account No. 1115000763247 for Active Trade Company, 176 F.3d 941 (7th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. United States Currency Deposited in Account No. 1115000763247 for Active Trade Company, 176 F.3d 941 (7th Cir. 1999)."
7th Circuit says probable cause established by owners' drug activity and discrepancy between legitimate income and value of assets. (445) The government brought a forfeiture action against certain real property worth $3.5 million owned by a family involved in drug trafficking. The Seventh Circuit held that probable cause for the forfeiture was established by the owners' known drug activity and the great discrepancy between their legitimate income and the value of the assets. The government is not required to show a direct connection between the property and the illegal activity. Evidence of prior convictions for drug possession or trafficking is admissible in a probable cause determination. Once the government established probable cause, the burden shifted to the claimants to demonstrate that the property was not used in connection with drug activities. Claimant made no such showing. In fact, claimant failed to respond to the government's statement in support of summary judgment. Therefore, she admitted that the properties were purchased with drug proceeds or were used to facilitate the drug trade. U.S. v. All Assets and Equipment of West Side Building Corp., 58 F.3d 1181 (7th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. All Assets and Equipment of West Side Building Corp., 58 F.3d 1181 (7th Cir. 1995)."
7th Circuit holds that claimant's knowl​edge of currency reporting requirements is not an element of forfeiture. (445) Defen​dant, a Brazilian businessman, entered the U.S. from Brazil. He did not file a form re​porting the importation of more than $10,000. One week later, he deposited $134,000 in two U.S. banks. The 7th Circuit affirmed that there was probable cause to for​feit the money. Knowledge of the reporting requirements was not an element of the of​fense. The government need show only that it has probable cause to believe that the claimant entered the country knowing that he was transporting more than $10,000 and that claimant did not report this fact on a Form 4790. The government presented sufficient evidence of this. U.S. v. $94,000 in United States Currency, 2 F.3d 778 (7th Cir. 1993). xe "U.S. v. $94,000 in United States Currency, 2 F.3d 778 (7th Cir. 1993). "
7th Circuit upholds forfeiture order based on 460 mari​juana plants and gardening equip​ment at resi​dence. (445) The 7th Cir​cuit rejected claimant's con​tention that the dis​trict court's forfeiture order con​cerning his resi​dence was not supported by the evi​dence. Claimant's ar​gument emphasized what the evi​dence did not show rather than what it did show. The government established proba​ble cause that claimant's property was used to facilitate the commission of a drug-re​lated of​fense. The presence in de​fendant's resi​dence of 460 marijuana plants, together with "sophisticated" home gar​dening equipment and growing tools provided a reasonable ground for believing that claimant engaged in the intentional manu​facture of mari​juana, and that the plants were going to be traf​ficked. Since the government established probable cause, the bur​den shifted to claimant to refute the for​feitability by a prepon​derance of the evidence. Claimant failed to meet this bur​den. U.S. v. Certain Real Prop​erty, Commonly Known as 6250 Ledge Road, Egg Harbor, WI, 943 F.2d 721 (7th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Certain Real Prop​erty, Commonly Known as 6250 Ledge Road, Egg Harbor, WI, 943 F.2d 721 (7th Cir. 1991)."
7th Circuit finds probable cause that building was be​ing used to conduct illegal gambling business. (445) State police raided claimant's building three times in two years and discov​ered illegal gambling activities. The FBI raided the building a fourth time and inter​rupted the same gambling activities. Claimant argued that forfei​ture of the building was im​proper because the govern​ment failed to prove an un​derlying state law violation, since at the time of the FBI raid, no arrests were made. Moreover, although owners of the building were present at the three state raids, only gamblers were arrested. The 7th Circuit re​jected these contentions. First, the fact that none of the owners were arrested was immate​rial, since there is no innocent owner defense. Sec​ond, the fact that no arrests were made at the FBI raid did not mean state laws were not being violated. At the time of the FBI raid, the same gaming activities were being con​ducted as were conducted at the time of the state raids. Since gamblers were arrested for viola​tions of state law on these earlier occasions, it was reasonable to assume that state law was being violated during the FBI raid. U.S. v. On Leong Chinese Merchants Asso​ciation Building, 918 F.2d 1289 (7th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. On Leong Chinese Merchants Asso​ciation Building, 918 F.2d 1289 (7th Cir. 1990)."
8th Circuit finds sufficient evidence to establish a substantial connection between claimant’s currency and drug trafficking. (445) Claimant was stopped during a routine traffic stop. The officer noticed the strong odor of marijuana as he approached the car. A consent search produced less than a pound of marijuana in the trunk and $84,000 wrapped in plastic in the trunk. The district court found after a bench trial that the government had established a substantial connection by a preponderance of the evidence that the money was connected to illegal drug transactions. The findings were based on the facts that the driver possessed illegal drugs, that he admitted that he was a drug user, and that he possessed a large amount of money that had been carefully concealed. The 8th Circuit affirmed. U.S. v. $84,615 in U.S. Currency, 2004 WL 1746263 (8th Cir., Aug. 5, 2004). 

8th Circuit finds dog alert plus fabric softener sheets (and some other facts) equal probable cause. (445) A Nebraska State Patrol officer stopped claimant’s camper en route to Cali​for​nia. A consensual search of the vehicle revealed $141,700 in cash in a hidden compartment in the camper’s ceiling. The money was wrapped in fabric softener sheets inside three layers of zip-lock plastic bags. At the scene, claimant denied any knowledge of the money, but a search of his pockets revealed receipts for purchases of zip-lock bags and fabric softener sheets. A drug-sniffing dog alerted to the money, the driver’s side door of the camper, and a black plastic bag that fell out of the hidden compartment. Claimant later filed a claim to the money, asserting it was the proceeds of a legitimate auto body/used car business. The Eighth Circuit found the foregoing facts amounted to probable cause to believe the cash was connected to drug trafficking. Though a large amount of currency standing alone does not constitute probable cause, the dog alert, the concealment of the cash, and the wrapping plainly designed to mask drug odors on the money established the necessary drug connection. U.S. v. $141,700.00 in United States Currency, 157 F.3d 600 (8th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. $141,700.00 in United States Currency, 157 F.3d 600 (8th Cir. 1998)."
8th Circuit discusses dog sniff evidence. (445) Plaintiff in this civil action under 42 U.S.C. §1983 alleged violations of his civil rights when a Missouri Highway Patrolman arrested him for speeding, searched his car, and found over $10,000 in cash. The officer called for a drug-sniffing dog. The dog alerted on the money which was turned over to the DEA for forfeiture. The Eighth Circuit found that the stop and arrest for speeding were valid under local law, and therefore a search of the passenger compartment was lawful. It also found no constitutional violation in the dog sniff. The court did not squarely address the question of whether police can use dogs to sniff the belongings of arrestees without any articulable suspicion beyond that created by the arrest itself. It held, however, that this officer had reasonable suspicion that the funds were the product of illegal drug activity because plaintiff was carrying over $10,000 dollars in small denominations and the officer knew that drug couriers often carry large amounts of cash in small denominations. The court also intimated (but did not hold) that a positive canine test for drugs, without more, constitutes probable cause for seizing cash and transferring it to the DEA for forfeiture. The case was remanded with directions that judgment be entered for the patrolman. Conrod v. Davis, 102 F.3d 92 (8th Cir. 1997).xe "Conrod v. Davis, 102 F.3d 92 (8th Cir. 1997)."
8th Circuit finds probable cause based on cash, drugs and drug paraphernalia. (445) When claimant was stopped for speeding, police found a suitcase containing pants, a roll of duct tape, and a package of dryer sheets. They also found in the car rolling papers, a sky pager, a hand‑rolled marijuana cigarette, and bundles of cash totaling $38,580, plus an additional $283.00 in claimant's pocket. A dog trained to discover drugs alerted to the money. Claimant denied involvement in drug trafficking, and claimed that the money was his life savings. He admitted he had no source of income since leaving his employer a year before the arrest. The Eighth Circuit held that the government met its probable cause burden by showing defendant's possession of a large amount of cash and drugs, the sky pager and drug paraphernalia. Drug traffickers sometimes use dryer sheets to mask the odor of narcotics and duct tape is then used to bind together those sheets into a package. The district court’s conclusion that claimant's story was not credible was not clearly erroneous. U.S. v. Thirty‑Nine Thousand, Eight Hundred Seventy‑Three and No/100 Dollars ($39,873.00), 80 F.3d 317 (8th Cir. 1996).xe "U.S. v. Thirty‑Nine Thousand, Eight Hundred Seventy‑Three and No/100 Dollars ($39,873.00), 80 F.3d 317 (8th Cir. 1996)."
8th Circuit finds sufficient relationship between money in safe deposit box and drug offense. (445) The government brought a forfeiture action against $87,060. About $30,000 had been seized from claimant's residence, and the remaining $57,000 was seized from a safe deposit box rented by claimant. The 8th Circuit agreed that the government established probable cause to believe that the money was drug proceeds from claimant's cocaine dealing. At the time of the seizure, claimant had been involved in a large-scale cocaine distribution conspiracy. He had made 10 visits to the safe deposit box number 954 in 1989 and 1990, and the bundles of currency in the safe deposit box were wrapped similarly to the bundles found in his house. The court also was justified in rejecting the innocent owner defense of claimant's wife and her friend. Although they contended that the $57,000 was found in box number 2175, the conclusion that the money came from box number 954 was not clearly erroneous. In addition, the use of a safe deposit box rather than an interest-bearing account was questionable, particularly since the bundles of money in the box were wrapped similarly to the bundles found in claimant's house. U.S. v. Eighty-Seven Thousand Sixty Dollars ($87,060.00), 23 F.3d 1352 (8th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Eighty-Seven Thousand Sixty Dollars ($87,060.00), 23 F.3d 1352 (8th Cir. 1994)."
8th Circuit upholds probable cause to for​feit cash seized from house identified by informants as lo​cation of drug transac​tions. (445) The 8th Circuit af​firmed that there was probable cause to forfeit cash seized from claimants' residence. At least two confi​dential informants identified the residence as a loca​tion for drug transactions. Police surveillance of the resi​dence, coupled with prior activity on the block, revealed a high volume of traffic entering and leaving the resi​dence. The money seized from the resi​dence was wrapped in rubber bands, which a narcotics offi​cer tes​tified was characteristic of the way drug money is stored. Finally, two months after the search, a DEA agent pur​chased cocaine from one of the claimant's daughters in front of the residence. The dis​trict court could properly reject claimants' "inherently incredible" testimony. Judge Beam dis​sented, believing that a statute that permits an owner of noncontraband prop​erty to be divested of title by a mere showing of proba​ble cause for the institution of forfeiture proceedings vi​olates due process. U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992)."
8th Circuit upholds use of facts outside initial com​plaint to establish probable cause. (445) The 8th Circuit upheld the dis​trict court's decision to al​low the government to introduce evidence of facts which were not alleged in the initial complaint to es​tablish probable cause. The judge "took pains" to en​sure that claimants were not confronted with any unfair or prejudicial in​formation of which they were previously unaware. Such action was within the judge's discretion. U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992)."
8th Circuit rules that affidavit denying govern​ment's claim did not rebut probable cause show​ing. (445) To show probable cause in support of the forfeiture of claimant's automobile, the government pre​sented a DEA agent's af​fidavit describing claimant's cocaine sales to undercover agents and in​cluded a confidential informant's re​port that defen​dant used the car to retrieve co​caine from his stash. To rebut this proba​ble cause showing, claimant of​fered an affi​davit in which he denied using the car when dealing cocaine. The 8th Circuit affirmed the district court's determination that defendant's blan​ket denials were insufficient to rebut the govern​ment's showing of probable cause to believe the car was forfeitable. The affidavit did not show that the car was not used in drug trafficking activities. De​fendant did not dispute the govern​ment's claim that he sold drugs to un​dercover officers or offer any ex​planation of how he traveled to and from his stash without using his car. U.S. v. One 1982 Chevrolet Corvette, 976 F.2d 392 (8th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. One 1982 Chevrolet Corvette, 976 F.2d 392 (8th Cir. 1992)."
8th Circuit affirms probable cause to forfeit money ob​served in briefcase during an airport search. (445) In accordance with standard procedure, airport security of​ficers asked claimant to open his briefcase for inspec​tion. They observed a large amount of currency cov​ered by papers and torn yellow pages from a phone book. The security officers notified DEA agents who contacted the claimant at the airport and obtained consent to search his briefcase. The claimant provided inconsistent explanations concerning the presence of the money, the purchase of the briefcase, and his arrest record. In ad​dition, his one way plane ticket had been purchased with cash and con​tained a passenger name different from his. A police dog sniff test indicated that the briefcase had been near narcotics. The 8th Circuit held that this es​tablished probable cause to believe that the money was traceable to a drug trans​action. U.S. v. Ninety-one Thousand, Nine Hundred Sixty Dollars ($91,960.00), 897 F.2d 1457 (8th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Ninety-one Thousand, Nine Hundred Sixty Dollars ($91,960.00), 897 F.2d 1457 (8th Cir. 1990)."
9th Circuit finds that aggregate of the facts, including canine alert to by-product of cocaine and not to cocaine residue, supports probable cause finding. (445) Two drug agents greeted claimant as she arrived in San Diego airport from New York. She told them that an unknown man gave her a locked duffel bag, but no key, which she checked with the airlines. She consented to a search of her checked bags, wherein was found $42,500. A narcotics-sniffing canine alerted to the currency, and the agents seized the money. She disclaimed ownership, listing the owner as “unknown.” The government instituted a drug-related civil forfeiture action against the money. She then filed a claim as bailee for an unnamed producer of adult films. During a telephonic deposition, she stated that she had no savings, earned $4000 that year, and gave no information about the phantom owner for whom she claimed to be bailee. The district court granted the government’s motion for summary judgment, finding that the government had established probable cause to initiate the forfeiture action. The 9th Circuit found that probable cause was established by the aggregate of facts that established a connection between the seized currency and drugs. These included the fact that she was carrying a substantial sum of money obtained from an unknown man, to be delivered to a main identified only by a first name. She denied knowing who owned the money, and she disclaimed ownership verbally and in writing. And the canine alerted. The 9th Circuit found it significant that the currency was wrapped in cellophane because that is not a normal repository for carrying money, but is rather used to conceal the smell of drugs and thus avoid detection by drug-sniffing canines. The 9th Circuit also noted as persuasive a declaration by the canine’s handler that the dog had undergone sophisticated training so he would alert to a by-product of canine that does not linger on currency, and not to cocaine residue found on currency in general circulation. Affirmed. U.S. v. $42,500.00 in U.S. Currency, 283 F.3d 977 (9th Cir. 2002).   

9th Circuit says inadmissible evidence cannot defeat summary judgment. (445) The district court granted the government’s motion for summary judgment in this civil forfeiture case. The Ninth Circuit agreed that the government had established probable cause to believe the forfeited money and vehicle were related to an illegal drug transaction. The court cited “substantial amount of currency seized, the temporal proximity of the exchange of cocaine and the seizure of the defendant currency, and the approximate equivalent value of the two items [the drugs and money].” Claimant failed to rebut the government’s showing. He presented unauthenticated and inadmissible documents purporting to show a legitimate source for the property, but inadmissible evidence will not defeat a motion for summary judgment. U.S. v. $379,535.00 U.S. Currency, 2000 WL 60139 (9th Cir. 2000) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $379,535.00 U.S. Currency, 2000 WL 60139 (9th Cir. 2000) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit dismisses challenge to probable cause as “wallydraigle.” (445) The landlady of an apartment where police found $22,780 in cash, together with thirty pounds of marijuana, packaging, and scales, attempted to assert a claim to the money on the ground that she was the “finder” of the money. After giving the back of the judicial hand to her claim to standing, the court went on to characterize her challenge to the government’s showing of probable cause as “wallydraigle.” [Ed. Note: We don’t know what “wallydraigle” means, but we like the sound of it.] U.S. v. $22,780.00 U.S. Currency, 1999 WL 846272 (9th Cir. 1999) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $22,780.00 U.S. Currency, 1999 WL 846272 (9th Cir. 1999) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit finds probable cause in drug money courier case. (445) The Ninth Circuit found the following factors amounted to probable cause for seizure and subsequent forfeiture of roughly $94,000 in cash from claimant: (1) Claimant had a history of “association with large quantities of marijuana; (2) when a drug agent spoke with claimant at a train stop, his behavior matched a drug courier profile; (3) he would not show the agent his ticket; (4) his hands were trembling; (5) he smoked rapidly; (6) he paced; (7) he refused to provide identification; (8) upon arrival of a canine unit, claimant closed the door to his room and pulled the curtains; (9) after agents found the cash during execution of a search warrant, claimant stated friends gave him the money to invest, but he had no documents to support the story; and (10) a drug sniffing dog alerted to the suitcase containing some of the money. Sorrentino v. U.S., 178 F.3d 1300 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "Sorrentino v. U.S., 178 F.3d 1300 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)." 

9th Circuit uses fabric softener sheets to establish nexus to drug trafficking. (445) The government sought civil forfeiture of over $125,000 in cash seized from claimant’s luggage at Los Angeles International Airport. The reason for the initial investigative detention was a tip about two men buying tickets from New York to L.A. for cash, combined with some additional weak drug courier profile evidence (claimant used a ticket in someone else’s name, was one of the last passengers off the plane, “looked around” the terminal, etc.). A consent search of claimant’s luggage revealed bundles of cash wrapped in fabric softener sheets and plastic kitchen wrap. The Ninth Circuit found probable cause that the cash was forfeitable as drug proceeds. In doing so, the court noted the drug courier profile evidence and the fact that claimant gave an implausible story for pos​session of the money, but its real emphasis was on the fabric softener. Said the panel, “Courts have often recognized the strong connection between fabric softener sheets and illegal drugs.” The use of such sheets to wrap the money (and thus to conceal residual drug odors) established the otherwise missing nexus between the cash and drug trafficking. U.S. v. $129,727.00 U.S. Currency, 129 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. $129,727.00 U.S. Currency, 129 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit finds evidence gathered before complaint filed sufficient to establish probable cause. (445) Claimant contested the civil forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6) of $88,654 in cash found during a consent search of his garment bag in the Tucson airport. The Ninth Circuit agreed that the government had established probable cause to believe the money was connected to drug trafficking. Relevant factors were: (1) Claimant made his reservations for the flight from Michigan to Tucson less than six hours before departure, paid $1,225 in cash for the ticket, and checked no luggage; (2) a narcotics detection dog alerted to the money; (3) claimant gave conflicting stories about how much money he was carrying and the purpose of the trip; (4) claimant was unable to provide any names or telephone numbers for his supposed business contacts; (5) claimant said the source of the money was the sale of furniture and other personal items; (6) claimant’s Michigan address was “in a crack cocaine neighborhood where numerous drug arrests had been made”; and (7) telephone toll analysis of calls from claimant’s Michigan address showed a number of calls prior to the trip to known drug traffickers in Tucson. Claimant sought to exclude the toll record evidence because it was gathered after the DEA initiated administrative forfeiture proceedings, but before the judicial forfeiture commenced. However, the Ninth Circuit, citing U.S. v. $191,910 U.S. Currency, 16 F.3d 1051, 1071 (9th Cir. 1994), observed that the government may rely on evidence acquired before the filing of the civil complaint. U.S. v. $88,654 in U.S. Currency, 116 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $88,654 in U.S. Currency, 116 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit says using truck to pick up profits from drug sales gave probable cause for forfeiture. (445) The informant said that after he sold the drugs on the East Coast, he met with the claimant in California and delivered the profits to him. The claimant drove away in his pickup after receiving the money. When the government sought to forfeit the truck, claimant argued that the use of the truck to drive to the meeting in California did not "facilitate" the sale of the drugs on the East Coast within the meaning of the forfeiture statute, 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(4). The Ninth Circuit found nothing in the statute to indicate that a vehicle used to transport a participant to carry away the proceeds of an earlier distribution is beyond the reach of §881. Accordingly, the government had probable cause to file a forfeiture complaint. U.S. v. One 1986 Ford Pickup, CA License No. 2W03753, 56 F.3d 1181 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. One 1986 Ford Pickup, CA License No. 2W03753, 56 F.3d 1181 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit finds informant's statements sufficiently corroborated for probable cause. (445) The standard of probable cause to support a forfeiture is similar to that required for a search warrant. "Interlocking" information from multiple informants may enhance the credibility of each. Here, two informants identified Sanders as a drug trafficker, but only one provided information regarding the use of the pickup to transport the drug proceeds. Despite some inconsistencies in that informant's statements, he was consistent with regard to the matters in the forfeiture proceeding. One statement was against the informant's penal interest, and he had provided reliable information in the past. Thus, the Ninth Circuit held that the informant's statements were sufficiently reliable to support the finding of probable cause for the seizure warrant. U.S. v. One 1986 Ford Pickup, CA License No. 2W03753, 56 F.3d 1181 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. One 1986 Ford Pickup, CA License No. 2W03753, 56 F.3d 1181 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit finds probable cause for forfeiture based on large amount of currency and drugs nearby. (445) The 9th Circuit found that $29,959.00 in cash kept in the home is "strong evidence that the money was furnished or in​tended to be furnished for drugs." Drugs and drug paraphernalia found in the yard and adja​cent trailer "are also strong evi​dence of a drug operation." When the po​lice arrived, one per​son was found stuffing bags of co​caine down the trailer kitchen sink. An officer testified that it is common for nar​cotics dealers to keep the pro​ceeds of sales separate from the trans​action and drug storage location. The 9th Cir​cuit found these factors sufficient to constitute probable cause to seize the cur​rency. U.S. v. $29,959.00 U.S. Currency, 931 F.2d 549 (9th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. $29,959.00 U.S. Currency, 931 F.2d 549 (9th Cir. 1991)."
9th Circuit upholds probable cause for forfei​ture where money trail was suspicious. (445) The IRS agent pre​sented detailed evidence of various financial transactions relating to 1940 Squaw Valley Road. The 9th Circuit found that the "money trail appears suspicious, even when recounted by ap​pellant himself." The district court found that appellant's testimony as to the source of funds was not credible. The government analyzed ap​pellant's tax returns and found no evidence that he had $155,000 available. There was also evi​dence that defen​dant enjoyed significant income from illicit ac​tivities. The 9th Circuit found that the gov​ernment met its bur​den of showing probable cause for the forfeiture. U.S. v. Roth, 912 F.2d 1131 (9th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Roth, 912 F.2d 1131 (9th Cir. 1990)."
9th Circuit holds that money may be forfeited even though no drugs are found on premises. (445) The Ninth Circuit held that there is no requirement that drugs be found on the searched premises in order to establish probable cause to forfeit money. Rather the court looks to the “aggregate of facts.” Here the owner of the house where the $40,000 was found was one of several persons observed entering a store which was apparently closed for business, while it was under surveillance as a suspected site for drug transactions. Based on their surveillance, police obtained search warrants for several of the residences of those who had been seen at the store, which revealed guns, drugs, drug paraphernalia and large amounts of cash. The court held that these facts established probable cause to believe that the owner of the house where the $40,000 was found “had recently been involved in a drug transaction,” and that the money “had been or was intended to be exchanged for drugs.” U.S. v. Padilla, 889 F.2d 642 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Padilla, 889 F.2d 642 (9th Cir. 1989)."
9th Circuit holds that carrying a large sum of cash is "strong evidence" of drug dealing. (445) The 9th Circuit ruled that "[c]arrying a large sum of cash is 'strong evi​dence' of [drug dealing] . . . even without the presence of drugs or drug parapherna​lia." "So, too, is the positive canine alert for the presence of narcotics on the seized currency." In addition, here the courier lied about the money, and his ticket was is​sued by a Miami travel agency that had issued tickets for some 20-30 other trav​elers from whom the officer had previously seized nar​cotics-related cur​rency. Moreover, the courier's "nervousness and his Miami destina​tion, a 'well-known center of illegal drug activ​ity,' were proba​tive of proba​ble cause in com​bination with the other circum​stances." Thus the court found probable cause to seize the $215,000 cash, even though it rejected as "not probative" a NADDIS report that the courier had been arrested nine years earlier on a mar​ijuana charge which was later dis​missed. U.S. v. $215,300 U.S. Currency, 882 F.2d 417 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. $215,300 U.S. Currency, 882 F.2d 417 (9th Cir. 1989)."
9th Circuit holds that even if property is seized ille​gally, it is subject to forfeiture if probable cause is demonstrated by untaint​ed evidence. (445) Probable cause for forfeiture requires "less than prima facie proof but more than mere suspi​cion." The district court based its finding on the dis​covery of a large sum of money, the transport of drugs in the vehicles, defendant's prior record, the purchase of the automobile with cash, and the lack of an ade​quate ex​plan​ation for these facts other than defendant's involve​ment with nar​cotics traf​ficking. Judges Beezer, Nelson and Hall held that even though the court failed to specify whether all of these facts were known at the time of the seizure, the vehicle was still subject to forfeiture if probable cause was demon​strated by untainted evidence. Here the valid​ity of the evidence was unquestioned. U.S. v. One 1985 Cadillac Seville, 866 F.2d 1142 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. One 1985 Cadillac Seville, 866 F.2d 1142 (9th Cir. 1989)."
9th Circuit holds probable cause for civil for​feiture is shown if there is "more than mere suspicion" that prop​erty was exchang​ed for drugs. (445) In a civil forfeiture proceeding under 21 U.S.C. §881, probable cause is shown if "the ag​gregate of facts gives rise to more than mere suspicion that the property was exchanged for or intended to be exchanged for drugs." Pos​session of a large amount of cash "is strong evidence that the money was furnished or in​tended to be furnished in return for drugs." Here the suspect tried to hide a bag containing $125,000 cash. When the police picked it up, everyone in the house disclaimed any knowl​edge of it. In addition, the 9th Cir​cuit ruled that the suspect's two prior drug convictions and recent drug ar​rest "are circum​stances demonstrating more than a mere sus​picion of his in​volvement in il​legal drug trans​actions." The fact that no con​trolled sub​stances or paraphernalia were found was "not dispositive." U.S. v. U.S. Currency, $83,310.78, 851 F.2d 1231 (9th Cir. 1988).xe "U.S. v. U.S. Currency, $83,310.78, 851 F.2d 1231 (9th Cir. 1988)."
9th Circuit holds that probable cause for for​feiture may be based on hearsay. (445) The district court ruled that the government had failed to establish probable cause for the for​feiture of ten houseboats be​cause its evidence consisted primarily of inad​missible hearsay. The 9th Circuit reversed, stating that probable cause is based on the reliability or sufficiency of the evidence presented, regardless of whether it would be admissible at trial. The court found that prob​able cause existed, and re​manded the case to enable the claimants to go forward with their burden of proving that the property was not subject to forfeiture. U.S. v. 1982 Yukon Houseboat, 774 F.2d 1432 (9th Cir. 1985).xe "U.S. v. 1982 Yukon Houseboat, 774 F.2d 1432 (9th Cir. 1985)."
9th Circuit holds that circumstantial evidence alone may establish probable cause. (445) The government sought to forfeit $93,685 on the grounds that it was in​tended to be furnished or had been furnished in ex​change for heroin and cocaine. The district court en​tered summary judgment for the claimant, stating that the gov​ernment had not established probable cause be​cause its evi​dence was entirely circumstan​tial. The 9th Circuit reversed, holding that such circumstan​tial evi​dence is sufficient to meet the govern​ment's burden. In light of the claimant's ad​missions that he did not intend to introduce evidence to rebut the government's case, the action was remanded with directions to enter sum​mary judgment for the govern​ment. U.S. v. $93,685.61 in U.S. Currency, 730 F.2d 571 (9th Cir. 1984).xe "U.S. v. $93,685.61 in U.S. Currency, 730 F.2d 571 (9th Cir. 1984)."
Forfeiture affirmed based on totality of circumstances, although Tenth Circuit found little probative value regarding drug trafficking based on claimant’s nervousness and inconsistent statements in encounter with officers, concealment of cash, and generalized allegations about “known” drug routes, destinations and sources. (445)(446) The claimant’s truck was lawfully stopped for a traffic violation and consented to a search of the truck and trailer. In the sleeper compartment, the troopers found two sealed cardboard boxes containing the defendant currency. At trial, the district court found that the claimant’s testimony was inconsistent with earlier statements to the troopers and with his passenger’s testimony, and granted judgment for the government. On appeal, the claimant argued that the evidence was inadequate to establish by a preponderance of the evidence a substantial connection between the currency and a controlled substance, and the 10th Circuit considered the totality of the evidence as a whole. As to the claimant’s nervousness, it may be considered probative, but the Court concluded that it is minimal probative value, given that many, if not most, individuals can become nervous or agitated when detained by police officers. As for his inconsistent statements, the Court concluded that multiple changes in the claimant’s stories are not of significant probative value. However, it was not particularly significant that the claimant concealed his money, because it is customary for people to carry cash, especially large amounts of cash, concealed. Although the district court found it probative that the claimant was traveling through Kansas on a “known drug route,” the Court did not find it probative of drug trafficking that a trucker hauling produce from California to New Jersey would travel on a major interstate. Generalized allegations about “known drug sources,” “known drug destinations,” and “known drug routes” do not provide a nexus to drugs on those facts, and is an exceptionally weak basis to justify a search. So many locales have been labeled “known drug sources” by law enforcement that it appears nearly any trip down the interstate would place one en route to or from an alleged drug source. However, as for the seized currency, amounting to over a quarter of a million dollars in bills of various denominations, and bundled in stacks held by rubber bands and wrapped in cellophane, a large amount of currency, while not alone sufficient to establish a connection to a drug transaction, was “strong evidence” of such a connection. Although the amount of currency is not dispositive, it was of greater significance when coupled with the claimant’s inconsistent statements about the presence and amount of currency in the truck and the utter lack of evidence to support his claims that the money came from loans. Together with the other factors surrounding the seizure, the trooper’s detecting of the smell of marijuana on the currency was strongly probative of a link between the money and drug trafficking. Thus, the district court’s order of forfeiture was affirmed. U.S. v. $252,300.00 in U.S. Currency, 2007 WL 1241654 (10th Cir. 2007) (April 30, 2007).

10th Circuit finds probable cause based on unexplained wealth. (445) The government filed a civil forfeiture action against cash and money in bank accounts of a convicted drug dealer. The Tenth Circuit held that the probable cause for the forfeiture was established by proof of claimant’s drug activities coupled with proof that he lacked any source of legitimate income sufficient to account for the amount of money and assets he possessed. Claimant failed to rebut the government’s showing of probable cause, and therefore summary judgment for the government was upheld. U.S. v. $11,557.22 in U.S. Currency, 198 F.3d 260 (10th Cir. 1999) (table)(unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $11,557.22 in U.S. Currency, 198 F.3d 260 (10th Cir. 1999) (table)(unpublished)."
10th Circuit finds probable cause for forfeiture of drug cash. (445) Claimant filed a Rule 41(e) motion for return of cash seized from his residence, alleging that the government failed to establish an adequate nexus between the money and drug trafficking activity. The Tenth Circuit found the government established probable cause with the following evidence: (1) During execution of a search warrant, officers found a large “cookie” of crack cocaine in the kitchen. (2) The officers also found cash and crack in one drawer of a file cabinet in claimant’s bedroom, as well as additional cash in other drawers of the same file cabinet. Claimant asserted that the source of the cash was insurance reimbursements and income from sales of his “gangsta rap” recordings; however, the court noted that the receipts for alleged record sales introduced by claimant at trial were not authenticated. In addition, claimant’s argument about the source of the funds was contradicted by his deposition testimony that he never made any profit from record sales. Claimant’s evidence did not rebut the government’s showing of probable cause. U.S. v. $43,646.00, 182 F.3d 933 (10th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. $43,646.00, 182 F.3d 933 (10th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
10th Circuit affirms probable cause based on hid​den currency and drug parapherna​lia. (445) The 10th Circuit af​firmed the dis​trict court's determina​tion that there was probable cause to forfeit cash found in claimant's home and several vehicles owned by claimant. The unusually large amount of hidden currency ($149,442) and presence of drug parapher​nalia, including packaging supplies and drug nota​tions re​flecting large drug transactions, established a sufficient nexus between the property and claimant's involvement in drug trafficking. Claimant did not es​tablish that the money was from legitimate sources. The vehicles were also properly subject to forfeiture. One contained a loaded pistol and a notebook con​taining drug notations, which indicated that it had been used to facilitate drug trafficking. Moreover, a sufficient nexus was established between the pur​chase of the vehicles with cash and claim​ant's in​volvement in illegal drug transactions. Although the government did not tie the vehicles to a specific drug transaction, both were purchased with cash during the years when the district court found that claimants had failed to demon​strate legitimate alternate sources of income large enough to account for their cash ex​penditures. U.S. v. One Hundred Forty-Nine Thou​sand Four Hundred Forty-Two and 43/100 Dollars ($149,442.43), 965 F.2d 868 (10th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. One Hundred Forty-Nine Thou​sand Four Hundred Forty-Two and 43/100 Dollars ($149,442.43), 965 F.2d 868 (10th Cir. 1992)."
11th Circuit finds probable cause did not exist due to complete lack of evidence connecting the seized money directly to illegal narcotics. (445) Claimant traveled from New York to Miami carrying over $242,000 in cash packaged in bundles according to denomination, wrapped in rubber bands, and stowed inside two large packages. The currency was seized at the Miami airport, and forfeiture proceedings were commenced. When she was questioned by law enforcement agents, she stated that she lacked knowledge concerning the circumstances surrounding her trip to New York and the receipt of the money, including her ability to identify from whom she received it. She was twice a “no show” for her scheduled departure from New York to Miami. The narcotics canine twice alerted on the cash. She traveled under her own name, never denied that she was carrying currency, and told the agents how much she was carrying. She associated with a business that actively dealt in cash transactions and had not been shown to be some sort of criminal enterprise. The district court granted forfeiture to the government, and the claimant appealed. The 11th Circuit held that probable cause did not exist based on this evidence to support forfeiture of the cash in view of the “complete lack of evidence connecting the seized money directly to illegal narcotics.” This case contains a lengthy discussion of probable cause in currency forfeitures. Reversed with instructions to enter judgment for claimant. U.S. v. $242,484.00, 2003 WL 21488882 (11th Cir., June 30, 2003). 

11th Circuit rules there was sufficient probable cause to support seizure of car. (445) In a forfei​ture action brought under the customs law, 19 U.S.C. §1595a, the 11th Circuit re​versed the district court's de​termination that there was no probable cause to seize claimant's vehi​cle. The United States bears the same burden of proving prob​able cause in actions under the customs laws as it does in actions under 21 U.S.C. §881. A car is con​sidered di​rectly involved in a drug trans​action when it is used to transport an individ​ual to the place where a drug transac​tion takes place even though it is not used to transport money or drugs. Here, there was evidence that plaintiff used the car to trans​port a co-conspira​tor and cash to the airport to catch a flight to the Philippines, where the co-conspirator would use the cash to obtain heroin and then smug​gle it back into the United States. This alone was sufficient to find probable cause. Nnadi v. Richter, 976 F.2d 682 (11th Cir. 1992).xe "Nnadi v. Richter, 976 F.2d 682 (11th Cir. 1992)."
Alabama district court grants summary judgment of forfeiture where $52,000 cash was unusually high amount to carry and government’s net worth analysis showed that claimant would have substantial deficit, not a positive cash flow, and all parties involved had criminal histories. (390, 445) Atteba Nettles was stopped at a security checkpoint at the Mobile, Alabama Regional Airport, where the police determined that he had three separate sealed envelopes in his jacket, which contained $20,000.00, $20,000.00, and $12,000.00, respectively. Nettles told officers he was traveling to New York, while employed by his cousin Bernard Jackson, to purchase various items including a vehicle, and purses and athletic shoes for resale in the Mobile area. He was traveling on a round-trip airline ticket purchased that morning with $1,100.70 cash, with a return to Mobile six days later. His luggage contained no toiletries, one pair of blue jeans, one new shirt, and one package of underwear; however, Nettles said he planned to do some shopping in New York. (He also had $612.00 cash in his wallet and no credit cards.) The $52,000.00 cash was seized and the government filed a civil forfeiture complaint, and then moved for summary judgment, arguing that the above facts and the narcotics-related criminal history of all of the individuals involved are probative to establish the connection of the Defendant currency with narcotics activity. The claimant, Jackson, argued that the Defendant’s $52,000 was not for the purchase of drugs nor proceeds from the sale of drugs, but that $37,000 is the result of his own work and savings, and $15,000 is the proceeds of a loan from Marty Vickery. The court first noted that the government need not prove that the money is traceable to a specific transaction in illicit drugs; it need only prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the money is substantially connected to drug trafficking generally. The court then held that it is undisputed that $52,000 in cash is an unusually high sum of cash to carry on one's person, and that the government’s detailed analysis of the claimant's income and expenses from 1999 to 2005 showed he would have had a substantial deficit at the time of the seizure, not a positive cash flow. Finally, the narcotics-related criminal history of all of the three parties involved (Nettles, Jackson and Vickery) was probative of a substantial connection with narcotics activity. Jackson claimed his drug history ended by 1999. Though these factors taken individually may not have sufficed to meet the government's burden, considered in the aggregate they provided sufficient evidence of a substantial connection of the currency to illicit drug activities. Other than Jackson generally denying he was involved in illegal drug activity and asserting that the money was legitimately earned, Vickery was deposed and when asked about the purported loan agreement between himself and Jackson, invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination.
In dicta, the court stated that even if the $15,000.00 were from a legitimate source, once commingled with the $37,000.00 bearing a “substantial connection” to illicit activity, the legitimate funds become “illegitimate” and are subject to forfeiture. Thus, the court granted the government’s motion for summary judgment. U.S. v. $52,000.00, More or Less, in U.S. Currency, 2007 WL 1624786 (S.D. Ala. 2007) (June 5, 2007). 

Alabama District Court finds forfeiture of car supported by probable cause. (445) State police officers stopped an Isuzu Trooper for speeding, smelled marijuana, searched the car, and found eleven grams of marijuana, $2,000 cash, and a handgun. The driver, who was the owner’s boyfriend, was prosecuted in state court and the car was subjected to federal forfeiture. The district court found probable cause for the stop, the search, and the forfeiture of the vehicle. The court also found that the owner failed to establish an innocent owner defense under the objective standard adopted by the Eleventh Circuit in U.S. v. One 1980 Bertram 58’ Motor Yacht, 876 F.2d 884 (11th Cir. 1989). She was unaware of her boyfriend’s use of the car for illegal purposes on this occasion, but was aware of his general involvement in drugs and failed to introduce evidence showing that she took affirmative steps to prevent illegal use of her vehicle. U.S. v. One 1992 Isuzu Trooper, 51 F.Supp.2d 1268 (M.D. Ala. 1999).xe "U.S. v. One 1992 Isuzu Trooper, 51 F.Supp.2d 1268 (M.D. Ala. 1999)."
Illinois District Court holds evidence established probable cause to believe vehicle was purchased with drug proceeds. (445) Evidence that Fred Cores obtained substantial sums of money from the sale of thousands of pounds of marijuana during period 1986 to 1997, coupled with evidence derived from Fred and Chi Cores’ tax returns which revealed they did not earn enough legitimate income to purchase 1996 Chrysler van, established probable cause to believe vehicle was purchased with proceeds of illegal drug trafficking. Additionally, the court found that because claimants failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the funds derived from a legitimate source or that they were innocent owners, the 1996 Chrysler Town and Country van is forfeitable to the Government. U.S. v. 1131 Aegean Drive, 2001 WL 293114 (N.D. Ill. 2001).

Illinois District Court finds probable cause for forfeiture in use of unexplained wealth. (445) A twice-convicted heroin dealer emerged from prison and began making cash purchases of real estate and vehicles for sums substantially exceeding his reported legal income. The government seized one of the purchases, a Lexus automobile, and commenced a civil forfeiture action against it, alleging that it was purchased with drug proceeds. The government’s case rested on three pillars: (1) claimant was a convicted drug dealer; (2) his expenditures far exceeded his reported legal income; and (3) he could not adequately explain the source of the money he was spending so freely. Rejecting the findings of a magistrate judge who concluded that the government had not shown probable cause, the district judge concluded that it had. The court rejected claimant’s unsubstantiated assertions that he won much of the money gambling. It also explicitly considered as evidence favoring the probable cause finding an assertion of the Fifth Amendment privilege by a witness who had supposedly done legitimate income-producing business with claimant. U.S. v. One Lexus LX450, 1999 WL 617686 (N.D. Ill. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. One Lexus LX450, 1999 WL 617686 (N.D. Ill. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Illinois District Court finds probable cause after excluding illegally-obtained evidence. (445) Police officers searched claimants’ residence and found marijuana, firearms, currency, and 3,828 gold and silver coins. State courts found the search unconstitutional, and suppressed all evidence because the police did not obtain consent to search and later forged the homeowner’s name on a consent form. In the meantime, federal authorities filed a civil forfeiture action under 21 U.S.C. §§881(a)(6) and 881(a)(7) against the real property, the currency, and the coins. Claimants moved to suppress the fruits of the search in the forfeiture action and sought summary judgment. The district court held that evidence directly obtained in the search should be excluded, but nonetheless found probable cause based on evidence that (1) existed before the illegal search, or (2) as to which the taint of the illegal search had dissipated. See Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590 (1975). In particular, the court excluded statements made by one claimant immediately after the search, but considered claimants’ interrogatory responses and deposition testimony in the civil forfeiture case. U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, Maple Park, Illinois, 962 F.Supp. 1081 (N.D. Ill. 1997).xe "U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, Maple Park, Illinois, 962 F.Supp. 1081 (N.D. Ill. 1997)."
Kansas district court allows only partial civil forfeiture of seized currency based on (facilitation( theory because of evidence that plastic bags found with money were sufficient to package marijuana in amount less than full value of cash seized. (445)  Claimant was lawfully stopped by the Kansas Highway Patrol for a traffic violation on I-70 at milepost 132 in Trego County, Kansas. Upon approaching the car, Trooper Carr smelled the odor of marijuana coming from the car and discovered approximately 2 grams of marijuana in a plastic baggie on the vehicle's back seat and in the trunk approximately 1 ounce of marijuana, 2 boxes totaling 30 1-gallon plastic bags, a plastic bag heat sealer, an electronic scale, $30,860.00 of defendant currency, and a loaded 9mm handgun. A drug K-9 alerted to the odor of narcotics on the defendant currency. The passenger was (stoned( and admitted smoking marijuana and that he did not know about the money in the trunk, that they purchased some marijuana in Fort Collins, Colorado on their way home from California, but that he understood that the money Claimant had came from an insurance claim for an automobile that had been wrecked. Claimant entered a plea to possession of drug paraphernalia in state court, which also was the basis for the forfeiture action. Claimant was studying theology in college and testified that he had used marijuana for recreational purposes, the money he took on the trip was not to purchase drugs, he purchased the digital scale but he had never weighed marijuana before, his wife purchased the sealer to seal left-overs, and he took it on the trip because he was (in to organic food.( The court found that the amount of cash found was substantial, however the government did not dispute Claimant's evidence about the legitimate sources of the funds because it claimed that the money was intended to facilitate a drug transaction. While the amount and packaging of the money was probative evidence of a drug-related transaction that is entitled to some weight, it was not, by itself, conclusive. Although a DEA agent testified that persons engaged in buying or selling controlled substances often carry firearms to protect themselves and their money from theft by others involved in the drug transaction, protection of legitimate funds from theft could also explain the presence of a firearm, thus this factor too, while probative and entitled to some weight, was not conclusive. Claimant(s drug history did demonstrate a propensity to seek and use controlled substances, and his possession of the plastic bags, scale and bag sealer during his trip to California was simply not credible. Thus, considering all the evidence, the court found that the Government had established by a preponderance of the evidence that some of the Defendant currency, was intended to be used or furnished, at least in part, for the purchase of a controlled substance. However, the parties took an all-or-nothing approach-either all the funds are subject to forfeiture or none of the funds are subject to forfeiture. The Court did not agree. The evidence supported a finding that Claimant had the means and presumed intent to purchase enough marijuana at some time during his California trip to fill up to the 30 plastic bags he brought with him which would cost up to $18,000 ($600 x 30 bags), but the Government's evidence about Claimant's intent to purchase any greater quantity of marijuana is more problematic, because the amount was not sufficiently large to indicate that Claimant was a drug dealer as opposed to a user of marijuana for recreational purposes, and without possession of additional plastic bags, Claimant did not have the means to package more than 30 bags. As a result, the Court held that the government did not present sufficient evidence to forfeit the remainder of the cash. The court noted that a similar result could be reached in certain circumstances by application of the proportionality provisions of CAFRA, although Claimant did not petition for such a hearing. U.S. v. $31,323.00 U.S. Currency, 2008 WL 2282646 (D.Kan. 2008) (May 30, 2008).

Kansas District Court upholds seizing items outside scope of warrant as possible proceeds. (445) Wichita, Kansas police obtained a warrant to search defendant’s residence for drugs, drug paraphernalia, and other evidence of drug trafficking. On the advice of DEA agents who accompanied them, the officers also seized various valuable items outside the scope of the warrant—such as big-screen TV’s, a riding lawn mower, a four-wheel Suzuki Quad Runner, and camera equipment—as proceeds of drug activity. Before his criminal trial, defendant moved to suppress these items. The district court ruled that, based on the information in the affidavit and otherwise available to the searching officers, there was probable cause to believe that the items seized were the forfeitable proceeds of defendant’s drug business. The court focused on four factors: direct evidence that defendant was dealing drugs, the fact that defendant had been unemployed for years, defendant’s purchase of various expensive things (including a house and cars), and the value of the objects seized. The motion to suppress was denied. U.S. v. Washington, 1997 WL 198048 (D. Kansas 1997) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. Washington, 1997 WL 198048 (D. Kansas 1997) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Kentucky district court forfeits mini-mart property that stored drugs and drug paraphernalia, along with cash in safe found in proximity to marijuana, but denies forfeiture of cash in register not near drugs as consistent with legitimate business practices. (445)(446)  Kentucky Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control conducted a search at J-One Market and found marijuana, cocaine, prescription bottles with the labels completely or partially removed, drug paraphernalia, and cash.  Ayyoub, the sole shareholder of Jamal, Inc., which was the owner of defendant property, ultimately pled guilty to a drug trafficking charge. The United States filed a civil forfeiture action against the real property and currency and claimants Ayyoub and Ibrahim filed claims and answers. Ayyoub has responded to discovery requests, but Ibrahim has not, and according to claimants' counsel, she cannot be reached and is outside the country. The government claimed the property was forfeitable because it was used to store controlled substances, facilitating drug trafficking. Claimants argued that the real property was not used to store the controlled substances in question to a degree that use of the premises rose to the level of facilitation, but the controlled substances were only found on the premises. The said the relationship between the drugs and the real property was merely “incidental,” as opposed to “facilitative.” Claimants cited no case law to support this “degrees of storage” theory, and did not explain how the presence of drugs within the store did not amount to storage. At the very least, this arrangement provided a secure area for a dealer to conceal his or her inventory. Also Claimants' argument that there was no evidence in the underlying criminal case of any connection between the real property and any sale of drugs directly contradicted Ayyoub's guilty plea to drug trafficking, which arose out of the discovery of controlled substances on defendant real property. Claimants provided no alternative, plausible rationale for the sheer quantity of narcotics and drug paraphernalia discovered on the premises, which precluded any argument that they were for personal use. Thus, the government's motion for summary judgment with respect to the defendant real property was granted. Ibrahim also failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that she as an innocent owner because she offered nothing to prove that she “did not know and was reasonably without cause to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture.” As for over $6,000 in cash seized from a safe bolted to the office floor with two large bags of marijuana, the storage of both cash and narcotics in the safe, the presence of more drugs and drug paraphernalia on the premises, and Ayyoub's drug trafficking conviction support the government's position that the currency represents proceeds of drug trafficking. With the exception of Ayyoub's self-serving statement that the currency represents proceeds from the legitimate operation of his business, he provided no evidence to suggest that this money represents anything other than proceeds from drug trafficking. However, $1,004.61 in currency found in the cash register and $315.00 in currency found in a lock box, although suspicious due to the amount of drugs found elsewhere on the premises, were not stored alongside narcotics. While these amounts of currency may very well represent proceeds from the sale of narcotics, viewed in the light most favorable to the claimant, the government failed to support its claim past mere suspicion. The storage of this currency was consistent with legitimate business practices. At the very least, a genuine issue of material fact exists as to the origins of this currency. Finally, the government argued that Ayyoub was precluded from asserting a defense to forfeiture by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. However, since the issue of whether the currency represents the proceeds of drug trafficking was not litigated and was not necessary and essential to the judgment on the merits in the criminal case, the government's collateral estoppel argument failed, although Ayyoub's conviction could still be considered as evidence tending to support the conclusion that currency seized represents the proceeds of drug trafficking. U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1430-1436 Madison Avenue, Covington, Kentucky, 2007 WL 4570927 (E.D.Ky. 2007) (December 21, 2007).

Louisiana District Court finds probable cause to forfeit cash where claimant failed to show for trial. (445) The district court found probable cause to forfeit as drug money $9,135 in cash seized from claimant at the New Orleans International Airport, based on the following facts: (1) Claimant was stopped after purchasing a one-way ticket to Houston, Texas (“a known source city for narcotics”) with cash. (2) She claimed to be going to visit friends for several months, but had only a single carry-on bag. (3) Claimant denied having illegal drugs or large sums of money, but when she removed her shoes at the agents’ request, they contained bundles of cash. More money was found in her pockets. (4) Claimant maintained she had earned all the money ($9,135) working for a temporary services company and a retail store, but tax records showed she earned a total of only $17,779 in the five years preceding her arrest. (5) A drug dog alerted on the money. (6) Claimant failed to appear at the trial of the forfeiture case. Said the court, “if the claimant had an honest stake in the currency seized by the FBI agents, she would have appeared and offered evidence to support her position.” U.S. v. $9,135.00 in United States Currency, 1998 WL 329270 (E.D. La. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. $9,135.00 in United States Currency, 1998 WL 329270 (E.D. La. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Massachusetts District Court finds probable cause to forfeit most items seized in huge marijuana case. (445) Federal agents dis​covered marijuana worth $8 million, jewelry, vehicles, artwork, and $1 million in cash and gold at a farm in Sandisfield, Mass. The proprietor of this thriving operation died of cancer while awaiting trial on drug and criminal forfeiture charges, so the government filed a civil in rem forfeiture against the farm and virtually everything on it. Based on the physical evidence seized in the search, as well as witness testimony that the property owner had been trafficking in marijuana for over twenty years, the district court found probable cause to believe most of the seized items were forfeitable as instrumentalities or proceeds of drug crimes. However, the court held that the overwhelming evidence of a huge, longstanding drug business did not, in itself, establish probable cause for the forfeiture of all the owner’s assets. To establish probable cause to forfeit items such as the artwork, the government would have to produce evidence more directly linking particular items to drug proceeds. As the owner’s estate could not rebut the government’s probable cause showing, the court granted summary judgment as to the real property and the bulk of the personalty, but set the case down for further proceedings as to the rest. U.S. v. The Real Property … at 40 Clark Road, 52 F.Supp.2d 254 (D. Mass. 1999).xe "U.S. v. The Real Property … at 40 Clark Road, 52 F.Supp.2d 254 (D. Mass. 1999)."
Mississippi District Court finds probable cause to seize welfare recipients’ $400,000 house. (445) The United States sought civil forfeiture of claimants’ residence after Missis​sippi officials investigated claimants’ involve​ment in drug trafficking. The district court found that the following factors amounted to probable cause: (1) Claimant Braxton Townsend was convicted in 1986 for distributing PCP. (2) A confidential informant stated that Braxton had been selling him crack since 1995. (3) A search of the house discovered cocaine on the premises. (4) The house cost between $350,000 and $400,000 to build and the Townsends paid the builder in cash. (5) The Townsends reported poverty-level income and received a variety of welfare benefits. (6) The record owner of the house was a straw purchaser who herself was on welfare. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property Located at Route 2, 46 F.Supp.2d 572 (S.D. Miss. 1998).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property Located at Route 2, 46 F.Supp.2d 572 (S.D. Miss. 1998)."
Nebraska district court finds that totality of circumstances showed substantial connection to drug trafficking, where claimants devised a story to legitimize the money found in vehicle, which previously had been associated with drug trafficking, and claimants' tax records suggested they were persons of modest means. (445)  The defendant currency was seized by officers because a large amount of rubber-banded currency was found concealed in the claimants' vehicle, the claimants initially lied to the officers about the presence of cash in the vehicle, and then told the officers the money was just being kept safe, and a drug dog alerted to the odor of narcotics on the currency. The court found precedent in other cases supporting forfeiture based on similar facts.  In one case, the court of appeals observed that possession of a large sum of cash is strong evidence of a connection to drug activity, and that while an innocent traveler might theoretically carry more than $100,000 in cash across country and seek to conceal funds from would-be thieves on the highway, the common-sense view is that bundling and concealment of large amounts of currency, combined with other suspicious circumstances, supports a connection between money and drug trafficking. In another case, the court held that evidence of concealment supported a connection between the money and drug trafficking, where the money in the trunk was bundled in rubber bands, enclosed within a plastic sack, and hidden beneath clothing in a duffle bag, the claimant lied to the investigating officer about not having a large amount of currency, and he had materials with him that were used to package drugs and conceal them from detection. The drug dog's alert to the currency and the bags smelling of marijuana in his car also supported a connection between the money and drug trafficking.  In the present case, a recorded conversation between the claimants while they were waiting in the patrol car demonstrated that the claimants devised a story to legitimize the money that was found in the vehicle. They agreed to tell the officers that they put the money together between the two of them to buy a truck, and one would tell the officers he got his share of the money from working and from selling a restaurant. The truck in which the currency was found had previously been associated with drug trafficking. Finally, the claimants' tax records suggest that they are persons of modest means, yet they had already taken three weeks of unpaid “down time” or vacation by the time they were stopped.  Thus, the totality of the circumstances lead “most naturally to the inference” that both of the claimants were involved in illegal drug activity, and that the currency was substantially connected to it. U.S. v. $34,600.00 in U.S. Currency, 2007 WL 3244081 (D. Neb. 2007) (November 1, 2007).

New York District Court finds probable cause to forfeit proceeds of stolen check scheme. (445) Claimant was convicted of participating in a bank fraud scheme in which a stolen check was deposited in a Maryland bank, which issued a $25,000 bank check to Pamela Adebanjo, who deposited it in her account, and then wrote checks totaling $16,751.69 to claimant, who deposited them in his New York bank. The government sought civil forfeiture of claimant’s account as proceeds of bank fraud under 18 U.S.C. §1344. The court found the foregoing facts sufficient to establish probable cause for the forfeiture and, as claimant made no response to the government’s motion, entered summary judgment for the government. U.S. v. All Accounts and Funds at Citibank Held in the Name of . . . Babtunde C. Olajide, 1998 WL 141184 (E.D. N.Y. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. All Accounts and Funds at Citibank Held in the Name of . . . Babtunde C. Olajide, 1998 WL 141184 (E.D. N.Y. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
New York District Court finds probable cause in mail fraud / child abuse case. (445) In a case that first came to public attention in a 1989 Sixty Minutes broadcast, a New York district judge found probable cause to believe that money in American bank accounts was forfeitable as the proceeds of a mail fraud and money laundering scheme run by the American operator of a Guatemalan orphanage. The money was forfeit​able under 18 U.S.C. §981 because the government showed a sufficient nexus between the money and the operator’s fraudulent fund​raising activities. The court found: (1) that the operator sexually and physically abused the orphans in his care; (2) that he sent by mail newsletters and other solicitations to potential donors that contained false representations that the orphanage was a safe haven for boys; (3) that donors sent money in response to the solicitations, and would not have done so had they known the truth; (4) that the operator engaged in financial transactions with the proceeds of the charitable solicitations knowing that the money was the proceeds of fraud. U.S. v. Funds Held in the Name or for the Benefit of Wetterer, 17 F.Supp.2d 161 (E.D.N.Y. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Funds Held in the Name or for the Benefit of Wetterer, 17 F.Supp.2d 161 (E.D.N.Y. 1998)."
New York District Court finds probable cause to forfeit entire shipment of Iranian carpets. (445) New York State Police stopped two Ryder trucks carrying large bundles of carpets the troopers suspected were being smuggled into the United States. U.S. Customs agents examined the load and seized it for forfeiture under 19 U.S.C. §1615 on the ground that the carpets were imported into the United States from Iran in violation of the embargo on goods from that country. See, 31 C.F.R. §560.201. In the ensuing civil forfeiture action, the district court found probable cause to believe the entire load of carpets had been illegally imported from Iran. Customs agents found tags on some of the carpets indicating they were made in Iran. A Customs Import Specialist examined each carpet and concluded that all were manufactured in Iran. Finally, the claimant testified that that the rugs were from Iran. Claimant presented no contrary testimony. The carpets were ordered forfeited to the United States. U.S. v. 863 Iranian Carpets, 981 F.Supp. 746 (N.D. N.Y. 1997).xe "U.S. v. 863 Iranian Carpets, 981 F.Supp. 746 (N.D. N.Y. 1997)." 

Oklahoma District Court says government had probable cause to forfeit money as drug proceeds. (445) Oklahoma Highway Patrol officers found $189,825 in cash concealed in the gas tank of claimants’ pickup truck. The district court found probable cause to forfeit the money as drug proceeds based on the following factors: (1) The money was hidden in the gas tank of a Dodge pickup truck, a model often used by drug smugglers because of its large gas tank and tank openings. (2) The truck was headed south to Mexico, “a known transit zone for drugs.” (3) Several drug courier profile character​istics were present, including the fact that the truck was driven by undocumented Mexican nationals who did not own the vehicle, the occupants’ story about their trip did not jibe with the facts, neither occupant had a criminal record, the truck was “relatively new with high mileage,” and the truck bed may have been on and off several times. (3) The large amount of currency. (4) A drug-sniffing dog alerted to the exterior and interior of the truck. (5) The money was packaged in a unique style common to drug smugglers. U.S. v. $189,825.00, 8 F.Supp.2d 1300 (N.D. Oklahoma 1998).xe "U.S. v. $189,825.00, 8 F.Supp.2d 1300 (N.D. Oklahoma 1998)."
Pennsylvania District Court finds probable cause for forfeiture of BMW. (445) Claimant sought to set aside the administrative forfeiture of his BMW automobile. The government conceded that it failed to provide adequate notice, and the district awarded claimant a hearing on the merits as his remedy. However, the court found that the government met its burden of establishing probable cause to believe that the car was purchased, at least in part, with the proceeds of armored car robberies, and that claimant failed to prove that the funds to buy the car came from untainted assets. The government showed that the initial payment for the car was made before the robberies, but shortly after the robberies claimant paid over $30,000 to pay off loan and repossession costs. Moreover, at the plea colloquy in his criminal case, claimant admitted participating in the robberies and using the proceeds to purchase vehicles. U.S. v. Watts, 1999 WL 493786 (E.D. Pa. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. Watts, 1999 WL 493786 (E.D. Pa. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Puerto Rico district court finds that unusually large amounts of currency found in shoe boxes inside vehicles and use of vehicle to drive to drug planning meeting facilitated sale of the drugs and constituted substantial connection to drug trafficking, and even though written notice of the forfeiture was sent one day late, claimant suffered no prejudice from inadequate notice because he had actual notice of government’s intent to forfeit from forfeiture count in indictment. (190, 445, 210) The United States sought forfeiture of a 2004 Dodge Durango and approximately $328,673 in U.S. currency seized from the claimant following a DEA search of his residence in Trujillo Alto, Puerto Rico. During the search, DEA agents interviewed the claimant’s consensual wife, who stated that at the time both she and her husband were unemployed and that the claimant purchased the Dodge Durango and registered it under her name. During an inventory search of vehicles at the residence, agents found $4,110 in U.S. currency inside the Dodge Durango vehicle and in a Nissan Armada, which the agents later learned had been reported stolen by its owner, they found several boxes which contained a total of $317,992 in U.S. currency. Inside a Toyota Tundra, the agents found $5,416 in U.S. currency. During their surveillance of the claimant, DEA agents observed him driving the vehicles while coordinating his drug trafficking business. The claimant later plead guilty to two counts of conspiracy to distribute and possession with intent to distribute approximately 449.4 kilograms of cocaine and 3.37 kilograms of heroin. The government and the claimant then cross-moved for summary judgment in the civil forfeiture case filed against the vehicles and money. The court noted that because the United States proceeded under 21 U.S.C. §881, it must establish a substantial connection between the property and currency and a criminal offense involving the exchange of a controlled substance; however, it need not link the defendant property to a particular drug transaction. In support of its motion, the government argued that the DEA had targeted the claimant for his participation in the distribution of cocaine base and heroin, as well as his involvement in money laundering activities. He also has a criminal record that dated back to 1989 when he was convicted on charges of drug distribution and conspiracy to posses a firearm and was still serving a period of probation for that conviction. To establish a connection between the vehicles and drug trafficking, the government argued that the claimant used the Nissan Armada vehicle and Dodge Durango to meet with a DEA cooperator and during both meetings discussed matters related to his drug trafficking business. In regard to the currency, the government argued that the unusually large amounts of currency were found in shoe boxes inside the vehicles, that the source of the currency was unknown, and that the claimant offered no plausible explanation as to the source of the currency. The court stated that it was not fatal to the United States' case that no drugs or drug paraphernalia were found with the currency when it was seized, and because a planning meeting is without a doubt an "integral part" of a drug transaction, the use of the vehicle to drive to the meeting certainly facilitated the sale of the drugs, even if the vehicle itself was not used to transport the drugs. Moreover, the claimant offered no proof in support of his proffered theory as to the source of the currency or why he would keep such a large sum of money in currency packed in shoe boxes inside his vehicles. Without such a showing, and given his prior convictions for drug trafficking and money laundering, claimant simply failed to convince the court that the source of the currency is anything other than drug or money-laundering proceeds or that it was intended to be furnished in exchange for drugs. The claimant also moved to dismiss the complaint against the $317,992 in currency found inside the Nissan Armada because it failed to provide him with written notice of forfeiture within 60 days, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §983(a)(1)(A)(i). The court denied the motion, however, holding that because the claimant had actual knowledge of ongoing forfeiture proceedings from another source, inadequacies in the notice would not work a deprivation of due process. The government had obtained an indictment against the claimant that contained a forfeiture allegation within 60 days after seizure of the currency. Although the indictment did not specifically identify the defendant property and currency, the description of the property provided adequate notice to claimant that any property or currency that constituted drug proceeds or was used in any manner to facilitate the distribution or possession of narcotics were subject to forfeiture. Accordingly, even if it sent written notice of the forfeiture one day late, because claimant had actual notice of the United States' intent to forfeit the defendant property, the claimant suffered no prejudice from the inadequate notice. The motion is denied. U.S. v. One Dodge Durango 2004, 2006 WL 3337492 (D. Puerto Rico 2006) (Nov. 15, 2006).

Rhode Island District Court finds probable cause that father acted as conduit for son’s drug money. (445) The government filed a civil forfeiture action against a residence purchased by a limousine service owned by Charles Kennedy, Sr. The district court found probable cause to believe that Kennedy Sr. merely acted as conduit for the investment of money from the drug business of his son, Charles Kennedy, Jr. Kennedy Jr. was convicted of numerous drug charges. In addition, the court heard evidence of multiple occasions on which the father bought assets in his own name for his son’s use and with his son’s money. Kennedy Jr.’s former wife testified that this pattern of activity was part of an explicitly discussed plan to conceal the source of the funds. The court declined to credit Kennedy Sr.’s “meek, and rather unbelievable” statements that he never asked where his son’s money came from or why his son wanted him to conduct these transactions. The court ordered the house forfeited. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property … Known as 352 Northup Street, 20 F.Supp.2d 74 (1999).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property … Known as 352 Northup Street, 20 F.Supp.2d 74 (1999)."
Rhode Island District Court finds probable cause to forfeit cash seized at drug dealer’s home. (445) Police made a controlled purchase of cocaine from claimant, then obtained a search warrant for his home. They found $17,220.00 in cash, five ounces of cocaine, a scale, a revolver, and other drug paraphernalia. The federal government prosecuted the claimant and sought civil forfeiture of the cash. Claimant moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim. The district court found the government’s pleadings set out facts sufficient to establish probable cause to believe that the money was related to illegal drug activity and was thus forfeitable under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6). The court analogized this case to the facts reported in U.S. v. Two Thousand Five Hundred ($2,500.00) in U.S. Currency, 762 F.2d 895 (11th Cir. 1985). In both cases, the claimant had recently been involved in an illegal drug purchase, and the amount of money was “not an amount commonly kept in residential premises by law-abiding wage earners.” The presence of cocaine, a weapon, a scale, and other drug trafficking paraphernalia was also important. U.S. v. One Lot of $17,220.00 in United States Currency, 183 F.R.D. 54 (D. R.I. 1998).xe "U.S. v. One Lot of $17,220.00 in United States Currency, 183 F.R.D. 54 (D. R.I. 1998)."
Texas District Court finds probable cause in money laundering/food stamp fraud forfeiture. (445) Claimants operated a food store authorized to accept food stamps. In Texas, the food stamp program was administered by issuing computerized cards that acted as debit cards. When the benefit recipient purchased food, the retailer would ring up the total, debit the card, and receive reimbursement from the government. Exchange of food stamp card credit for cash was strictly prohibited. Claimants routinely purchased food stamp benefits from recipients at 50% of face value and then rang up nonexistent food purchases to secure funds from the government. The government filed a civil forfeiture action against real property purchased by claimants with the proceeds of their fraud. The government proved that claimants deposited $438,022 in food stamp reimburse​ments in their bank account during a period in which their store could not have sold more than $68,707 in groceries. In addition, the government showed that money from this account was used to purchase the forfeited property, and that at least 82.6% of that money was derived from the fraud. This evidence was sufficient to constitute probable cause for forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(A). U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1700 Duncanville Road, 90 F.Supp.2d 737 (N.D. Tex. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1700 Duncanville Road, __ F.Supp.2d __, 2000 WL 339165 (N.D. Tex. March 9, 2000) No. 3\:99-CV-0996-T."
West Virginia District Court rules co-defendant’s statement establishes probable cause for forfeiture. (445) Police officers stopped claimant for speeding on a West Virginia interstate, and discovered over $200,000 in cash in claimant’s pockets and in a tote bag in the trunk. The district court found probable cause to forfeit the cash, relying on the following facts: (1) claimant was travelling in a leased car from Miami (a source city for drugs) to Cleveland; (2) claimant and his passenger gave inconsistent stories about their prior relationship; (3) during the stop claimant tried to escape on foot; (4) a drug-sniffing dog alerted to the bag containing the money; (5) the bag also contained a small quantity of marijuana and two handguns; (6) the money was in small denomin​ations “consistent with street-level proceeds”; and (7) claimant’s passenger gave an extensive statement asserting that the purpose of this trip was to buy cocaine and detailing claimant’s drug activities generally. The court granted the government’s motion for summary judgment, declining to credit the claimant’s assertion that the money came from employment and gambling winnings. U.S. v. $206,323.56, More or Less, in United States Currency, 998 F.Supp. 693 (S.D. W. Va. 1998).xe "U.S. v. $206,323.56, More or Less, in United States Currency, 998 F.Supp. 693 (S.D. W. Va. 1998)."
Wisconsin district court denies criminal forfeiture of entire house because prosecutor failed to demonstrate how much is forfeitable, despite the fact that unlawful mortgage payments made on it could be specifically traced. (445, 480)  Defendants were found guilty in a court trial of bankruptcy fraud and money laundering offenses, and the government moved for a preliminary order of forfeiture of assets listed in the indictment, including defendants' Lake Geneva condominium, a Honda Civic and a SEA DOO personal watercraft. Because defendants apparently disposed of the latter two, the government sought a money judgment of equal value, and a personal money judgment in an amount equal to the total of the laundered funds. The court found that the Lake Geneva property was not "involved in" the money laundering offenses or traceable to the property involved in those offenses. Defendants made payments on the property with dirty money, as they did on various other debts. But the property was not the subject of the money laundering conspiracy, nor was it acquired with dirty money. The financial transactions at issue occurred when the defendant submitted funds to the lending institution; title to the property did not change hands at any relevant time. Further, the equity defendants possess in the property was not traceable to the corpus of the money laundering offense. Therefore, the property was not forfeitable. The government's argument that the condominium was "facilitating" property also was rejected because it was simply where defendants lived, and it cannot be the law that a money launderer's home is always forfeitable.  Once a defendant contends with some evidentiary support that at least some of the value in a given asset came from lawful, nonforfeitable sources, then the prosecutor must demonstrate how much is forfeitable.  In the present case, the government sought forfeiture of the entire property, despite the fact that the unlawful payments made on it can be specifically traced, so the court said it would be improper to forfeit the house.  Moreover, the court declined to order forfeiture of all of the defendants’ post-bankruptcy petition income and assets just because some of it was mingled in bank accounts with pre-petition funds, which did not specifically fund continuation of the scheme, and thus did not constitute "proceeds" for purposes of forfeiture.  U.S. v. Arthur, 2006 WL 2992865 (E.D.Wis. 2006) (Oct. 18, 2006).
Wyoming District Court finds probable cause to forfeit grazing land as drug proceeds. (445) A South Florida drug smuggler active in 1985-86 bought grazing land in Wyoming in 1987, changed his name, and disappeared. When his true identity was discovered in 1996 and he was prosecuted on a 1989 narcotics indictment, the government also sought civil forfeiture of the Wyoming ranch. The district court found probable cause to believe the property was purchased with drug proceeds based on the following facts: (1) Claimant received $1.3 million for drug smuggling in 1986; (2) He purchased the Wyoming property for an unknown sum of cash in 1987; (3) He paid all his property taxes in cash; (4) He changed his name and engaged in other activities designed to conceal his identity and the source of his income; (5) He filed no income tax returns for 20 years and had no sources of legitimate income to account for his large cash expenditures. Because claimant offered no evidence to rebut the government’s showing of probable cause, the court granted summary judgment for the government. U.S. v. 657 Acres of Land … in Park County, Wyoming, 978 F.Supp. 799 (D. Wyoming 1997).
